#### CHEMISTRY OF DISSOCIATED WATER VAPOR AND RELATED SYSTEMS

#### M. VENUGOPALAN AND R. A. JONES

Department of Chemistry, Royal Military College of Canada, Kingston, Ontario, Canada

Received July 12, 1965

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction			 				133
	A. General Nature of the Phenomenon			 				133
	B. Scope and Limitations of the Review			 				133
	C. Definition of Terms			 				134
II.	General Investigations at Low Pressures			 				134
	A. Dissociated Water and Hydrogen Peroxide Vapors			 				134
	B. Atomic Hydrogen-Molecular Oxygen Systems			 				136
	C. Atomic Hydrogen-Ozone Systems			 				137
	D. Other Systems			 				138
III.	Direct Investigations of the Gas Phase Reactions			 				139
	A. Spectroscopic Methods			 				139
	B. Mass Spectrometric Methods.			 				140
	C. Miscellaneous Methods			 				141
	D. Rate Constants and Thermochemical Data			 				141
IV.	Nature of the Condensed Products			 		• •		142
	A. Experimental Studies			 			•	142
	B. Existence of Superoxides of Hydrogen in the Condense	ed Product	t.,	 				150
v.	Reaction Mechanisms			 				152
	A. Discharge Tube Stage			 				152
	B. Pre-Trap Stage			 			,	152
	C. Cold Trap Stage			 				153
	D. Warming Stage			 			•	154
VI.	High-Pressure Discharged Systems of Hydrogen and Oxyge	en		 				154
	A. Introduction			 				154
	B. Factors Influencing Hydrogen Peroxide Yield.			 			,	155
	C. Kinetics and Mechanism.			 	•			155
VII.	References			 	•			156

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Although investigations of the chemistry of dissociated water vapor and related systems were initiated 40 years ago, the major advances have been made within the last 15 years. In consequence an everincreasing number of publications on this subject have appeared during the last decade; of these a large number have been published in Russian journals. The various investigators have had differing objectives and have used a variety of experimental techniques; their studies have exhibited a plethora of disagreement, contradictory results, and general scientific frustration. In view of this situation and the rapidly growing literature on the subject, a comprehensive unified review appears to be warranted.

#### A. GENERAL NATURE OF THE PHENOMENON

When dissociated water vapor or dissociated hydrogen peroxide vapor is allowed to condense on a surface cooled below about 120°K, an unidentified combination of hydrogen and oxygen which is unstable above about 160°K is obtained. A similar solid is produced when the products of the reaction of atomic hydrogen with oxygen or with ozone are condensed at these low temperatures. When warmed near 160°K, such solid products invariably transform from glassy to crystalline deposits, simultaneously evolving oxygen, and at room temperature water and hydrogen peroxide remain.

#### B. SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS OF THE REVIEW

Extensive reviews on reactions of oxygen atoms (109) and on mechanisms and rate constants of elementary gas phase reactions involving hydroxyl and oxygen atoms (14) have appeared recently. Brief references to significant studies on OH and  $O_2H$  radicals and superoxides of hydrogen can be found in articles and books surveying the general field of trapped free radicals (20, 59, 153) and cryochemistry (143, 144). Recently Volman (225) has reviewed photochemical gas phase reactions in hydrogen-oxygen systems. The field of combustion reactions involving hydrogen and oxygen has been dealt with by Lewis and von Elbe (128) and Minkoff and Tipper (154). Similarly the radiation chemistry of water vapor and of related hydrogen-oxygen systems has recently been reviewed (129, 215). The present review, therefore, is concerned chiefly with general investigations emphasizing yields of final products and the influence of various experimental parameters thereon (section II), with direct investigations of the gas phase reactions (section III), with the nature of the condensed solid products (section IV), and with postulated reaction mechanisms (section V), all in low-pressure discharged hydrogen-oxygen systems. Investigations of high-pressure discharged systems are also included (section VI).

This review covers the literature through the May 1965, Chemical Abstracts and Current Chemical Papers. The limitations of this review are that it concerns chiefly material published since 1950, and that it does not include work done using dissociation techniques other than the electrical discharge. An excellent summary and interpretation of experimental results prior to 1950 is given in a paper by Rodebush, Keizer, McKee, and Quagliano (192). Oldenberg (174) and Schumb, Satterfield, and Wentworth (198) have also summarized the principal earlier experimental results.

#### C. DEFINITION OF TERMS

The term "peroxy-radical condensate" has been suggested and used by Russian workers (209) to denote the products formed by low-temperature (90°K) condensation of discharged water or hydrogen peroxide vapors, and also by the low-temperature reaction of atomic hydrogen with oxygen or with ozone, instead of the more widely used but less definite term "vitreous substance" (95). However, throughout this review, the more general term "condensed product" will be used.

The term "evolved oxygen" will be used to represent the total oxygen evolved on warming the condensed product.

The term "traversed volume" will be used to denote the reaction volume due to cylindrical glass tubing of uniform diameter interposed between the discharge exit and coolant level.

#### II. GENERAL INVESTIGATIONS AT LOW PRESSURES

#### A. DISSOCIATED WATER AND HYDROGEN PEROXIDE VAPORS

The reactions of the products of glow discharges in vapors of water and hydrogen peroxide have been studied extensively (198). The earlier work using flow systems established that in water vapor at pressures of 0.1 to 0.2 mm, with a rapid vapor throughput, and with the products condensed quickly in a liquid air cooled trap, hydrogen peroxide is obtained in fairly high concentration (30, 62, 66, 170–175, 190–192). If the trap is cooled with solid carbon dioxide instead of with liquid air, no hydrogen peroxide is obtained and in some cases very little water (152). When the liquid air trap is separated from the discharge tube to allow an increased time for reaction, the yield of hydrogen peroxide decreases, eventually becoming insignificant. If the liquid air trap is placed adjacent to the discharge exit, practically all of the oxygen entering in the form of water is recovered in the trap as water or hydrogen peroxide.

Subsequently it was observed that when discharged water vapor was condensed at about 90°K, a glassy solid deposited which gave off oxygen at temperatures above 160°K, to yield hydrogen peroxide and water (103). According to Jones and Winkler (103), the oxygen evolution proceeded to completion at about 195°K, and the amount of oxygen evolved with warming was proportional to the total amount of product and independent of warming procedure. Water was found at all temperatures between 77 and 160°K, whereas hydrogen peroxide was formed only from products formed below 120°K. The yields of water, hydrogen peroxide, and evolved oxygen increased with decreasing trap temperature. When the volume of reaction chambers inserted between the discharge tube and the trap was increased, the yield of hydrogen peroxide decreased continuously, while the yield of water at first decreased and then increased to a limiting value (103). Packing a given reaction chamber with glass wool drastically reduced the yield of hydrogen peroxide, but had little effect on the yield of water, and packing the trap itself had only a slight effect on product yields (103). As the rate of flow of water was increased, the yield of peroxide tended toward a limiting value which depended upon the power input (83). In a very fast flow system, the peroxide yield was, however, not affected by the distance between discharge and trap (83).

Introduction of small amounts of oxygen in the stream of water vapor, either before or immediately after the discharge, did not affect the amount of peroxide or water formed although an excess of hydrogen atoms was present in the dissociated vapor (83). Coating the walls of the liquid air trap with fused boric acid verified that the yields of hydrogen peroxide and water were not affected by the nature of the cold surface. On the other hand, it was found that the surface in the discharge tube itself played an important role. It was concluded that ionic species are so short-lived that any mechanism invoked to explain the formation of water and hydrogen peroxide at liquid air temperatures would involve mainly OH radicals and H atoms (199).

The products of an electrical discharge through hydrogen peroxide vapor were hydrogen peroxide,

water, oxygen, and hydrogen in amounts which depended upon the arrangement and temperature of the trap, reaction time, and surface-to-volume ratio of the reaction vessel (2, 21). Water, hydrogen, and oxygen resulted from the gas phase reactions of the discharged hydrogen peroxide, with hydrogen peroxide being produced only in a trap cooled below 150°K. Products trapped below 120°K evolved oxygen on warming above 160°K. The yields of hydrogen peroxide and evolved oxygen increased as the trap temperature was changed from 90 to 77°K. When the traversed volume was increased, the yields decreased (2). Water was the only product when molecular hydrogen peroxide was caused to react with hydrogen atoms, dissociated hydrogen peroxide vapor, or dissociated water vapor in the presence or absence of  $H_2(21)$ .

A relationship (88) has been observed between the yields of final products  $(H_2O, H_2O_2, and evolved O_2)$ and a generalized kinetic parameter up/v, where u is the electrical power consumed, v is the flow rate of  $H_2O_2$  or  $H_2O$  vapor, and p is the pressure at the entrance to the discharge tube. The shapes of the kinetic curves indicated that water was an intermediate product in the decomposition of  $H_2O_2$  in the discharge tube and that the compositions of discharged H<sub>2</sub>O and  $H_2O_2$  vapors differed in oxygen content only. In these studies it was found that the condensed product from the discharged  $H_2O_2$  vapor was twice as rich in  $H_2O_2$  and also in the compound (assumed to be  $H_2O_4$ ) which evolved oxygen on warming, as was the product obtained from H<sub>2</sub>O. The molar ratio of evolved oxygen to  $H_2O_2$  remaining in the trap was approximately 0.3 as opposed to 0.2 for water vapor (103).

When discharged water vapor was trapped at 4.2°K, less evolved oxygen was obtained than at higher temperatures (193). Conversions of 17 to 18% of water to hydrogen peroxide were obtained and only 2 to 4%conversion to oxygen, all of which was of the "evolved" type, when the inlet system to the trap was clean and coated with phosphoric acid. On the other hand, with the inlet system contaminated (presumably with  $Fe_2O_3$ ), conversion to peroxide was reduced to 0.4%of the water introduced, 31.4% being converted to molecular hydrogen and oxygen. Over half of this oxygen was later evolved on warming. The low yield of peroxide in these experiments and the increase in yield obtained by various successive treatments (193) of the inlet tube suggested that hydroxyl radicals are rapidly consumed, presumably by a heterogeneous reaction, before impinging on the cold surface.

The formation of hydrogen or deuterium peroxide as a primary reaction product when discharged water, hydrogen peroxide, or deuterium oxide vapor is trapped at 77°K was subsequently confirmed (135). When discharged water vapor was allowed to impinge on frozen  $H_2O_2$  at 195°K, no reaction occurred, while dissociated water vapor brought in contact with liquid ozone at 77°K gave the same amount of evolved oxygen on warming as was obtained when the discharged water vapor was trapped in the absence of ozone (135).

Recently, kinetic curves have been obtained for the yield of hydrogen peroxide and the changes in its concentration, and also for the yield of water, as a function of the residence time of water vapor in the discharge zone (165). The yield of hydrogen peroxide showed a distinct maximum, while the yield of water was given by a complex relationship consisting of an exponentially falling curve and a curve having a maximum. When the pressure of water vapor was increased from 0.3 to 1.5 mm, the yield of peroxide dropped but the yield of water was unaffected (191, 165).

Experiments carried out recently (102) at very low flow rates (0.92 mmole of water/hr), low pressures  $(120 \mu)$ , and low current density (200 ma) showed that the yield of hydrogen peroxide was negligible when discharged water vapor was trapped at about 5 mm from the discharge exit, *i.e.*, at a small traversed volume of 1.5 ml, and that the yield increased with increasing traversed volume to a maximum value at a traversed volume of about 300 ml, *i.e.*, approximately 100 cm away from the discharge exit; thereafter, the yield decreased rapidly when the traversed volume was increased and became negligible above about 500 ml. The yield of molecular oxygen, *i.e.*, of oxygen which passed through the trap, was negligible at low traversed volumes and remained so until the traversed volume reached the value of 300 ml corresponding to the hydrogen peroxide maximum; the oxygen yield then increased rapidly and leveled off at the higher traversed volumes. As the traversed volume was increased, the yield of water decreased from a value not much less than the total input at the lowest traversed volume (1.5 ml) used, and leveled off at the higher traversed volumes (200–300 ml) at a value equal to about onethird of the total input. The yield of hydrogen was significant at the lowest traversed volume; as the traversed volume was increased, the yield increased rapidly at first, then almost leveled off in the 200-300ml region only to swing up again at the traversed volume of maximum hydrogen peroxide yield, and finally leveled off at the higher traversed volumes.

At very low traversed volumes ( $\sim 1$  ml), the yield of evolved oxygen was very large compared to the yield of peroxide, which was negligible, and increased almost linearly to a maximum value at about 10 ml. Thereafter the yield of evolved oxygen fell exponentially to a minimum value at a traversed volume of about 100 ml. Beyond this the yield of evolved oxygen increased and followed the peroxide yield throughout, with a maximum at about 300 ml (102). Although the yield of peroxide near the discharge exit was negligible at a flow rate of 0.92 mmole of water/hr, it increased with flow rate rather rapidly and leveled off at higher flow rates (10-15 mmole/hr). This suggested that at very low flow rates peroxide precursors are not present in the gases flowing from the discharge but are formed in the traversed volume (102).

The recombination of the high-voltage discharge products of water vapor on surfaces coated with KCl,  $K_2CO_3$ ,  $Al_2O_3$ , KOH, and silica gel has been studied (61, 62, 214, 220). The recombination reactions were accompanied by a temperature increase and a bluegreen luminescence on the coated surface. The principal products at room temperature were hydrogen and oxygen. When the products were trapped at 90°K,  $H_2O_2$ ,  $H_2O$ ,  $H_2$ , and  $O_2$  were obtained.

Discharges through water vapor have been used to achieve an efficient synthesis of concentrated hydrogen peroxide (32, 60, 157, 163, 219, 227). In one of these methods (219) the reaction gas was allowed to remain in the discharge tube for a relatively long time, and the discharge tube was cooled with liquid air. The concentration of  $H_2O_2$  obtained was about 95%. In another method (60), the dissociated water vapor was passed through a magnetic flux of 14,400 gauss/cm<sup>2</sup> for a length of 35 mm to deflect the H atoms away from the OH radicals and thence through a conduit directly to evacuation. The OH radical stream was condensed in a liquid air trap, to yield a pure concentrated product. Recently, labeled heavy-O peroxide  $(H_2^{18}O_2)$ enriched in the heavy-O isotope has been synthesized from vapor of heavy oxygen water  $(H_2^{18}O)$  in a glow discharge (32, 227).

#### B. ATOMIC HYDROGEN-MOLECULAR OXYGEN SYSTEMS

#### 1. Atomic Hydrogen-Gaseous Oxygen

The early experiments on the reaction of atomic hydrogen with molecular oxygen at pressures of 0.1-0.5mm and wall temperatures of 30°K yielded essentially 100% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, but the yield decreased at higher wall temperatures and became negligible at about 200°K (27, 68). When warmed to about 160°K, the condensed products vigorously evolved oxygen. The rate of formation of hydrogen peroxide was proportional to the oxygen concentration over a considerable range, for constant surface conditions (16, 17). The results were not affected by passing oxygen as well as hydrogen through the discharge (16). At a trap temperature of 77°K, all the inlet oxygen appeared as water and  $H_2O_2$ , in about equimolar proportions. At higher trap temperatures, water increased and hydrogen peroxide decreased until at 194°K no hydrogen peroxide was trapped (152). Increasing the distance between the point of mixing and the condensing trap reduced the hydrogen peroxide to a trace while the amount of water formed was only slightly affected. These results are similar to those obtained with a glow discharge through water vapor (cf. section IIA).

The character of the surface in the zone of reaction was found to have a marked effect on the amount and nature of the condensible products, as would be expected at low pressures (16). The amounts of condensible products in a liquid air trap placed downstream from the reaction zone decreased with increasing wall temperature in the reaction zone. At surface temperatures between 273 and 523°K, a KCl surface practically eliminated hydrogen peroxide, a "Pyrex" surface gave an intermediate amount which decreased with increasing wall temperature, and a surface treated with phosphoric acid gave the maximum yield of hydrogen peroxide, substantially unaffected by temperature and about ten times that obtained with KCl. Badin (16) suggested that these surface effects are associated in some way with the amount of water present on the surface, a chloride surface being "dry" and phosphoric acid being "wet." The decrease of condensible products with increasing wall temperature must be due to reforming of hydrogen and oxygen from OH or  $O_2H$ .

Experiments in which the flow rate of atomic hydrogen was varied while the flow of oxygen  $(2 \times 10^{-6})$ mole  $\sec^{-1}$ ) was kept constant proved that all the oxygen could be completely recovered only when the atomic hydrogen flow was greater than 5  $\times$  10<sup>-6</sup> gatom sec<sup>-1</sup> (146). At higher  $H/O_2$  inputs the yield of water increased slightly at the expense of the evolved oxygen, while the peroxide yield remained constant. When the  $H/O_2$  ratio was too low to ensure complete recovery of oxygen, the yields of peroxide and water decreased, the latter more sharply than the former; the evolved oxygen yield remained about the same. The strong dependence of water yield upon the atomic hydrogen supply is in contrast to the behavior of the other products. Experiments in which oxygen recovery was incomplete showed appreciably more hydrogen in the products than was available as atomic hydrogen.

When the products of the H-O<sub>2</sub> reaction were trapped at 4.2°K, solids of empirical composition close to H<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> were obtained (193). On warming, these solids behaved similarly to those formed at higher temperatures, evolving oxygen and leaving concentrated H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at room temperature. The evolved oxygen was accounted for by postulating loosely bound oxygen in the solid in an amount corresponding to  $3H_2O_2 \cdot O_2$ . The mole per cent of water in the water-peroxide mixtures obtained was between 3.5 and 30 in a series of nine runs, averaging 20%, but in all cases too low to account for oxygen evolution via the reaction

$$[H_2O \rightarrow O] \longrightarrow H_2O + 1/2O_2$$

as proposed earlier (68, 69), and in most experiments too low to be derived from the superoxides H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>.

Avramenko and Kolesnikova (9-11) have shown that at a pressure of 7 mm, the quantity of  $H_2O_2$  collected in a trap cooled to 77°K at a distance of 40 cm from the point of mixing was clearly dependent upon the condition of the surface of the reaction vessel. Table I

r	ABLE I					
Yields of Hydrogen Peroxide at Different Traversed Volumes for Different Surfaces (10, 11) <sup>a</sup>						
Condition of surface	Distance of trap at 77°K from point of mixing, cm	Peroxide yield, molecules/sec				
Treated with products	150	$0.04 \times 10^{16}$				
from discharged H <sub>2</sub>	150	$0.08 \times 10^{16}$				
and washed with $H_3PO_4$	40	$7.50 imes10^{16}$				
Treated with products	150	$0.12  imes 10^{16}$				
from discharged H.O	40	$0.11 \times 1016$				

<sup>a</sup>  $p_{\rm H_2} = 6 \text{ mm}; p_{O_2} = 0.2 \text{ mm};$  reaction at ~470° K.

shows the results obtained using two experimental arrangements which differed only in that the surface of the reaction vessel of one was conditioned by the products from a discharge in hydrogen and washed with phosphoric acid, while the surface of the other was conditioned by the products from a discharge in water vapor. With the surface conditioned by atomic hydrogen a large amount of  $H_2O_2$  was obtained; with the surface conditioned by the products from a water vapor discharge, only small amounts of  $H_2O_2$  were obtained.

From the results of experiments in which ethylene was added to the  $H-O_2$  system at different distances from the point of mixing (10, 11), it was deduced that the water is formed by a chain reaction rather than by simple radical reactions. The addition of ethylene at a distance of 12 cm, although presumably breaking the chain, did not prevent the formation of considerable water, from which it was concluded that water is formed in the reaction vessel and not in the trap. Removal of the cold surface of the trap to a distance of 150 cm from the atomic hydrogen inlet led to a sharp decrease in the amount of hydrogen peroxide (Table I), thus indicating that most of the peroxide is formed on the cold walls of the trap (11).

#### 2. Atomic Hydrogen-Solid Oxygen

When hydrogen atoms produced thermally on a tungsten ribbon were treated with a film of solid oxygen at 20°K, water and hydrogen peroxide were obtained as the products at room temperature (116). The extent of the hydrogen consumption indicated diffusion of hydrogen atoms into the solid.

#### ATOMIC HYDROGEN-OZONE SYSTEMS C.

#### Atomic Hudrogen-Gaseous Ozone 1.

This reaction was first studied by McKinley and Garvin (146) at room temperature in a low-pressure (0.1 mm) flow system using a substantial excess of hydrogen atoms and an ozone-oxygen mixture. As the ozone content of the mixture was increased, the yield of water relative to peroxide and evolved oxygen increased appreciably until for 96% ozone an essentially equimolar mixture of peroxide and water was collected in a cold trap at 77°K. The yields of water, hydrogen peroxide, and evolved oxygen under various operating conditions are compatible with the view that product formation occurs primarily by radical recombination reactions in the cold trap. It was suggested that hydroxyl is the immediate precursor of all the water formed (and of a small amount of peroxide) while perhydroxyl radicals form hydrogen peroxide in the cold trap, and either hydroxyl or molecular oxygen in the pre-trap phase (146).

At low flow rates of ozone, the reaction was complete, and 37% of the total oxygen was found as H<sub>2</sub>O, 36%as  $H_2O_2$ , and 27% as  $H_2O_4$  (207). When the ozone flow rate was increased, the conversion was reduced to 20-30% and the yield of final products, especially that of  $H_2O_2$  and evolved  $O_2$ , decreased. The evolved  $O_2/$  $H_2O_2$  ratio increased with the rate of admission of  $O_3$ . When oxygen was used instead of ozone, the yield of  $H_2O_2$  was about the same, whereas the yield of  $H_2O$ was reduced to about two-thirds and the evolved oxygen to one-half.

#### Atomic Hydrogen-Liquid Ozone 2.

The reaction of atomic hydrogen with liquid ozone was first studied in 1951 by Nekrasov (161), the results being published in 1956 (117). When 100% liquid ozone which had been condensed at 77°K on the walls of a glass reactor was bombarded with hydrogen atoms. the dark blue film of liquid ozone was transformed into a transparent glassy substance, slightly tinted bluish by incompletely reacted ozone. When warmed, the glassy substance started to decompose violently at about 160°K and then melted, whereupon the speed of decomposition increased abruptly. In the decomposition, oxygen separated out and there remained a 33%aqueous solution of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> corresponding to an approximately 50% solution of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. The molar ratio of oxygen evolved to hydrogen peroxide found was constant and approximately unity (117, 121). No such constancy was found for the proportions of evolved oxygen and water (121). With increasing reaction time the accumulation of products at 77°K continued up to a certain limit and thereafter practically ceased even though H bombardment was continued indefinitely. This limiting yield was dependent on the geom-

etry of the film of liquid ozone (121). Increasing the concentration of atomic hydrogen increased the rate at which the limiting yield of condensed product was attained, but did not change its magnitude. The ratio of evolved oxygen to hydrogen peroxide remaining was independent of the concentration of H atoms as well as the duration of H bombardment. Although the absence of  $H_2O_2$  in the condensed product was not proved at this time (121), it was assumed that  $H_2O_2$ was formed only by the decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> produced by the dimerization of O<sub>2</sub>H radicals. That formation of  $H_2O_4$  and  $H_2O_2$  with the participation of H atoms occurs only in the presence of an O-O bond was verified by studying the reaction of atomic hydrogen with  $N_2O$  and  $N_2O_4$  (121). In neither case was the formation of  $H_2O_2$  observed. The absence of hydrogen peroxide as a primary reaction product at 77°K in H-O<sub>3</sub> system has recently been confirmed by infrared spectroscopy (231), for products which on warming yielded equimolar amounts of  $O_2$  and  $H_2O_2$ .

The influence of the geometry of the reaction vessel on the hydrogen atom-liquid ozone reaction has been studied in detail (135–137, 231). In a U-tube reactor the ratio of oxygen evolved to residual peroxide was always approximately unity, but departed from this value when the reactor geometry was changed. The mechanism of formation of the product which gives a 1:1 ratio is therefore closely related to geometrical and flow parameters. In a cold finger reactor only trace quantities of product were formed.

Oxygen was lost from the liquid layer in the early stages of the reaction and hydrogen atoms degraded very rapidly in the liquid nitrogen cooled zone. When the liquid nitrogen level in the U-tube was raised several inches above the film of ozone, no reaction occurred (231). Decreasing the hydrogen atom concentration increased the ratio of evolved oxygen to hydrogen peroxide to unity even in an inlet tube reactor. Decreasing the area of exposed film of liquid ozone markedly increased the production of  $H_2O_2$  and decreased the amount of evolved oxygen. One mole of water was formed for each mole of consumed ozone (231). A 1:1 ratio of evolved oxygen to residual peroxide was also obtained when deuterium atoms were employed instead of H atoms (135). From these results it was concluded that under certain conditions hydrogen or deuterium atoms react with liquid ozone to give a product which, based upon the stoichiometry of decomposition, can be described as a hydrogen superoxide (117, 121, 231).

Liquid ozone and molecular hydrogen do not react at 77°K (121).

#### 3. Atomic Hydrogen-Solid Ozone

The reaction of atomic hydrogen with films of solid ozone has been studied at  $70^{\circ}$ K (76). Infrared absorp-

tion analysis of such reacted films proved to be identical with those of solid mixtures of  $H_2O-H_2O_2$  plus unreacted ozone. Although no chemical analysis of the products was made, molar concentrations of  $H_2O_2$ in the films of about one-third were calculated from the intensities of faint peaks at 2163 and 1110 cm<sup>-1</sup> (76).

The apparent absence of superoxides when solid rather than liquid ozone is used was explained (166) on the basis of differences in rates of diffusion. With liquid ozone,  $O_2H$  radicals diffuse easily into the interior of the film, thus avoiding reaction with hydrogen atoms, and recombine there to form  $H_2O_4$  (121), whereas with solid ozone,  $O_2H$  radicals are no longer able to diffuse readily into the interior of the layer and react rapidly on the surface with hydrogen atoms to form hydrogen peroxide.

#### D. OTHER SYSTEMS

#### 1. Atomic Oxygen-Molecular Hydrogen

Little or no reaction has been observed when atomic oxygen produced in a discharge is mixed with molecular hydrogen, even if the mixture is passed into a liquid air trap (191). When reaction does occur, only water is formed (177). Presumably the recombination of oxygen atoms is much more rapid than their reaction with hydrogen. The collision probability for the recombination has been calculated to be  $10^{-8}$  at room temperature (191).

#### 2. Atomic Oxygen-Water or Peroxide Vapor

When the products of the reaction of water vapor with atomic oxygen were condensed in a trap at 77°K, no peroxide was found, the only product being a small amount of ozone (135). However, when concentrated (68 wt %) hydrogen peroxide vapor was allowed to react with oxygen atoms, analysis of the products condensed at 77°K indicated decomposition of about 81% of the peroxide and the formation of a small amount of the superoxide H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (135).

Contradictory results have been reported for the reaction of oxygen atoms with frozen water at low temperatures. Rodebush and Wahl (190) reported that the reaction does not occur at liquid oxygen temperatures. On the other hand, Avramenko and Kolesnikova (9-11) have concluded that on an  $H_3PO_4$ -coated surface cooled by liquid nitrogen, the reaction

 $O + H_2O + cold surface \longrightarrow H_2O_2 + cold surface$ 

takes place. Recent experiments (135), however, support the earlier conclusion that water films do not react with oxygen atoms at 77°K. Negative results have also been reported for peroxide films at 77°K (135).

#### 3. Atomic Hydrogen-Water or Peroxide Vapor

Water vapor is reported not to react with H atoms either in the gas phase or on a cold surface (163).

The gas phase reaction between hydrogen atoms and hydrogen peroxide has been reported to form water only, the yield being a linear function of the peroxide input at all flow rates (21, 68, 69, 164). Material balances (164) showed almost complete conversion of hydrogen peroxide into water.

Alternately freezing peroxide vapor at 77°K and bombarding the film with H atoms caused (164) no reaction between solid peroxide and H atoms.

#### 4. Ozone-Hydrogen Peroxide

Mutual decomposition of ozone and hydrogen peroxide occurs in aqueous solutions at  $273^{\circ}$ K (1) and in the gas phase over the temperature range  $293-400^{\circ}$ K (224). Almost complete consumption of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> occurs when the two reactants are brought together in the gas phase, but passing ozone over solid H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at Dry Ice temperature has no appreciable effect (224).

In recent experiments (48) in which 100% ozone was bubbled through cold concentrated (60-87\%) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, the latter was decomposed, the decomposition increasing with temperature. When ozone was condensed at 77°K upon previously powdered solid peroxide, there was no evidence of reaction even after 76 hr.

#### 5. Oxygen-Hydrogen Peroxide

When pre-mixed hydrogen peroxide and oxygen were condensed together at 4.2°K and subsequently warmed, the condensed solids evolved oxygen at about 160°K (193). The evolution of oxygen was similar to the thermal behavior of condensed products from discharged H<sub>2</sub>O vapor and from the reaction of atomic hydrogen with oxygen or ozone. The molar ratio of evolved O<sub>2</sub> to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in these experiments varied from 0.18 to 0.25 compared to values ranging from 0.29 to 0.37 for the products obtained from atomic hydrogen and molecular oxygen. Similar experiments at higher temperatures, and specifically at 77°K, under a variety of flow conditions did not yield appreciable amounts of evolved oxygen.

#### III. DIRECT INVESTIGATIONS OF THE GAS PHASE REACTIONS

#### A. SPECTROSCOPIC METHODS

#### 1. Ultraviolet Absorption

Broida and Kone (29) have used ultraviolet absorption to determine the rate of disappearance of OH in the gases issuing from a glow discharge in water vapor. Their work may be compared with that done earlier by Oldenberg, Frost, and Rieke (62, 173, 175). An ultraviolet absorption method developed for determining absolute OH concentrations showed that OH produced in the water vapor discharge could be carried by fast flow into a reaction vessel in measurable concentrations (5, 14). The possibility that the absorption observed is due to OH *formed* in the reaction vessel cannot, however, be excluded (111).

#### 2. Microwave Absorption

The microwave spectrum of OH has been detected by Zeeman modulation in an rf discharge in water vapor (49, 194). Transitions between members of the A-type doublets were observed along with a nuclear hyperfine structure and Zeeman effect. The intensity of the microwave lines showed that the abundance of OH was strongly dependent upon pressure and discharge current and that OH radicals could be obtained from the discharge in concentrations approaching 10%, with a lifetime of approximately 1/3 sec (195). Similar experiments in the presence of steady magnetic fields were subsequently reported (181).

#### 3. Paramagnetic Absorption

The concentrations of several species produced by an rf discharge in water vapor-molecular oxygen mixtures of H<sub>2</sub>O pressures from 50 to 200  $\mu$  and O<sub>2</sub> pressures from 0 to 300  $\mu$  have been determined by epr spectrometry (96). Paramagnetic resonance spectra were observed for atomic oxygen, atomic hydrogen, molecular oxygen, and for the high- and low-field  $J = \frac{3}{2}$  and low-field  $J = \frac{5}{2}$  transitions of OH in the <sup>2</sup>II<sub>1</sub>, state. At water vapor pressures below 100  $\mu$ , OH absorption was absent, while above 130  $\mu$ , O absorption was absent. The calculated OH concentrations were always less than 1%; adding oxygen to the system increased the OH concentrations by as much as five times, but did not affect the pressure limits.

#### 4. Emission Spectroscopy

The emission spectrum of OH in the H-O<sub>3</sub> system has been observed in the visible and infrared regions (39, 147). Kaufman (110) using a grating monochromator determined the concentration of OH in its specific rotation-vibration states by observing its emission in a fast-flow  $H-O_3$  system diluted with He. The reaction  $H + O_3 \rightarrow OH + O_2$  was found to be very rapid in the mixing zone and accompanied by emission of light in the weak (8, 2) band near 5900 A. For the same system, Peyron (178) observed, in addition to the well-known spectrum (63, 64) of OH [(<sup>2</sup> $\Pi$ );  $\nu = 9$ ], an intense ultraviolet emission arising from the  ${}^{2}\Sigma \pm {}^{2}\Pi$  transition in OH, arising probably via a three-body collision involving two H atoms and an hydroxyl radical or by collisions between two OH  $(^{2}\Pi)$  radicals.

Cashion and Polanyi (31), studying chemiluminescence from the system  $H-O_2$ , found an infrared emission which could plausibly arise from O<sub>2</sub>H. Subsequent experiments (33, 63, 65) with different apparatus failed to confirm these observations. Recently Dixon and Mason (46) have studied the luminescence from the H-O<sub>2</sub> system and observed prominent violet-degraded heads at 6853, 7149, 7562, and 8103 A in contrast to the red-degraded bands earlier observed (147). By analogy with the coarse rotational structure of the violet-degraded HNO bands (35, 43) due to opening of the HNO angle on electronic excitation, the observed spectrum was tentatively assigned to the  $O_2H$  radical. It should be noted that McKinley (145) and Mironov (155, 156) were unable to detect O<sub>2</sub>H spectroscopically in flames where its existence has long been assumed although Tagirov (218) subsequently reported an infrared emission which he attributed to O<sub>2</sub>H.

#### B. MASS SPECTROMETRIC METHODS

Lossing (132) and Schiff (197) have briefly summarized earlier work on the detection and determination of the thermochemical energies of OH and  $O_2H$ radicals in the gas phase in discharged water and peroxide vapors and related oxygen-hydrogen systems. Direct experimental evidence for the existence of  $O_2H$ radicals in the gas phase was obtained by Foner and Hudson (52) in a mass spectrometric study of the H- $O_2$ system. When oxygen mixed with an inert carrier gas (M) was introduced at a distance of 2 cm from the mass spectrometer leak into a stream of hydrogen atoms, a small increase in the ion current at mass 33 was observed. This increase was attributed to the formation of  $O_2H$  by the reaction

$$H + O_2 + M \longrightarrow O_2H + M$$
 (Eq 1)

No increase was found in the ion current at mass 34, indicating little or no  $H_2O_2$  formation. Ion currents were detected for OH<sup>+</sup> and  $H_2O^+$ , the formation of which was ascribed to the secondary reaction

$$O_2H + H_2 \longrightarrow OH + H_2O$$
 (Eq 2)

Subsequent experiments made without a carrier gas showed the presence of OH radicals only (54, 56), formed presumably by the wall reaction

$$H + O_2 H \longrightarrow 2OH$$
 (Eq 3)

rather than by reaction 2. Robertson (187, 188) found that in the absence of a carrier gas and at total pressures in the range 0.1 to 0.5 mm, the concentration of  $O_2$  being about 20 mole %, 2 to 8% of the oxygen was converted to  $H_2O_2$  and 3 to 4% to  $O_2H$ radicals. The mass spectrometric analysis was performed within  $10^{-2}$  sec after the oxygen was mixed with the H atoms. Although the presence of  $H_2O_2$ and  $O_2$  radicals made the analysis somewhat uncertain, water vapor and hydroxyl radicals were not present in appreciable quantities at the time the gas was sampled. This is surprising because both the hydrogen that passed through the discharge and the oxygen contained about 2 mole % of water. An observed increase in the O<sub>2</sub>H<sup>+</sup> ion intensity with time and pressure suggested that O<sub>2</sub>H radicals require third-body stabilization and that the lifetime of the unstabilized radical is about 10<sup>-12</sup> sec. Hydrogen peroxide formation was ascribed to the secondary reaction

$$H + O_2 H \longrightarrow H_2 O_2$$
 (Eq 4)

Both  $O_2H$  and OH radicals, as well as  $H_2O_2$ , were detected in mass spectrometric study of the products of the thermal reaction of hydrogen with oxygen in the presence of helium as carrier gas (97).

When  $H_2O_2$  vapor was treated with the products of discharges through water and hydrogen peroxide vapors,  $O_2H$  radicals were detected (53) in very low concentrations, presumably being formed by the reaction

$$OH + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow O_2H + H_2O$$
 (Eq 5)

The O<sub>2</sub>H concentration was high enough to permit the determination of the ionization potential, a value of  $11.5 \pm 0.1$  ev being obtained (53). The strengths of the hydrogen to oxygen bonds in O<sub>2</sub>H and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> calculated from this value were  $47.2 \pm 2$  and 89.5 kcal/mole, respectively.

Recently Foner and Hudson (58) have studied in extensive detail the production, identification, and determination of thermochemical energies of O<sub>2</sub>H radicals in the gas phase.  $O_2H$  radicals were found to be produced by the reactions of H with  $O_2$ , of H with  $H_2O_2$ , of O with  $H_2O_2$ , of OH with  $H_2O_2$ , by photolysis of  $H_2O_2$ , and by low-power electrical discharge through  $H_2O_2$ . The last system provided the most intense and convenient source of O<sub>2</sub>H radicals. Ion-molecule reactions constitute a potentially serious source of interference in studies of  $O_2H$  with conventional mass spectrometers (58). The use of a chopped molecular beam sampling system permitted low ion source pressures (10<sup>-6</sup> to  $10^{-7}$  mm) and minimized ion-molecule reactions as well as interference from decomposition products (51). The measured values of the ionization and appearance potentials of  $O_2H$  were  $11.53 \pm 0.02$  and  $15.36 \pm 0.05$ ev, respectively. The derived energies for the hydrogen to oxygen bond strengths in  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_2H$  at 298°K were  $89.6 \pm 2$  and  $47.1 \pm 2$  kcal/mole, respectively.

Reported values for the ionization and appearance potentials of  $O_2H$  are summarized in Table II. The discrepancy between the values for the appearance potential (Table II) obtained by Robertson (186) and by Foner and Hudson (57) was ascribed by the latter to interference from decomposition products mentioned above which was eliminated in their work (57). Similar interference from decomposition products had been encountered by others (114, 130).

	TABLE II		
IONIZATION AND A	PPEARANCE POT	ENTIALS OF O2H	FROM
	DIFFERENT SOU	RCES	
	I(02H),	$A(O_2H^+),$	
Source of O <sub>2</sub> H	ev	ev	Ref
$H_2O_2 + discharged$			
H <sub>2</sub> O or H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> vapor	$11.50\pm0.10$	$15.41\pm0.10$	53
Discharged H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>			
vapor	$11.53\pm0.02$	$15.36\pm0.05$	58
H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> vapor		$15.36\pm0.05$	57
		$16.10 \pm 0.40$	186
$H + O_2$ reaction	12.2		187, 188

Muschlitz and Bailey (160) have studied the mass spectra of water vapor and mixtures of water and hydrogen peroxide vapors. With water vapor H<sup>-</sup>, O<sup>-</sup>, and OH<sup>-</sup> were the principal ions detected, but  $O_2^-$  and  $O_2H^-$  ions appeared upon addition of small amounts of hydrogen peroxide vapor. The obvious deduction was that OH<sup>-</sup> ion was formed by secondary collisions between H<sup>-</sup> and H<sub>2</sub>O.

The ionization and appearance potentials of OH from various sources are given in Table III. The hydrogen to oxygen strengths in H<sub>2</sub>O and OH calculated from Foner and Hudson's value of  $13.18 \pm 0.1$  ev for I(OH) are  $116 \pm 5$  and  $103 \pm 5$  kcal/mole, respectively (55).

TABLE III IONIZATION AND APPEARANCE POTENTIALS OF OH FROM DIFFERENT SOURCES

L	JIFFERENT BOUR	CLS	
	<i>I</i> (OH),	$A(OH^+),$	
Source of OH	ev	ev	$\mathbf{Ref}$
H <sub>2</sub> O vapor		17.50	45
		$13.20\pm0.30$	40, 47,
			114
H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> vapor		$15.35 \pm 0.10$	57
		$15.60\pm0.08$	130
		$16.00 \pm 0.30$	186
$H_2 + O_2$ reaction		$13.25\pm0.30$	40, 47,
			114
Thermally dissociated			
H <sub>2</sub> O vapor	13.60		222
Discharged H <sub>2</sub> O or			
H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> vapor	$13.18 \pm 0.1$	$18.19 \pm 0.10$	55
-			

The gases issuing from the water vapor discharge have also been studied using coaxial ionic and molecular beams instead of perpendicular beams, the simultaneous presence of O and OH in the flow being reported (127). The oxygen atom concentration in samples withdrawn from the flow into the mass spectrometer was twice the hydroxyl concentration, contradicting Kaufman's view (109) that oxygen atoms and hydroxyl radicals cannot be removed from the discharge zone simultaneously because of the fast reaction

$$OH + O \longrightarrow H + O_2$$

the activation energy of which is low, and the preexponential factor high.

Using a mass spectrometer capable of detecting atomic oxygen and atomic hydrogen and using a stirred-

reactor technique, Wong and Potter (232) have recently measured the rate of reaction of H with mixtures of atomic and molecular oxygen at temperatures ranging from 350 to 600°K. The atomic oxygen was quantitatively monitored by the mass spectrometer at a mass-to-charge ratio of 8. The reaction was found to proceed by a chain mechanism, four to six atoms of oxygen being consumed for each hydrogen molecule. In the absence of molecular oxygen, the expected ratio is 2 (from the consecutive reactions  $H_2 + O \rightarrow OH +$ H; OH + O  $\rightarrow$  O<sub>2</sub> + H); consequently, molecular oxygen must be involved in the chain reaction. Mass spectrometric analysis of the products gave the following qualitative results:  $O_3$ , not observed (<1%);  $H_2O$ , major product;  $H_2O_2$ , not observed (<1%); OH, not observed (<1%); O<sub>2</sub>H, not observed (<1%); H, a trace at room temperature, much more at higher temperatures.

#### C. MISCELLANEOUS METHODS

Measurements of the temperature rise of a probe coated with KCl on which OH radicals were presumed to recombine (214, 220), and determination of the amount of  $H_2O_2$  condensed in a liquid air trap from gases containing OH with the presumption that the  $H_2O_2$  is formed from OH (190) were among the earlier methods used for estimating the concentration of OH radicals in discharged water vapor and related systems. Reexamination of these methods proved that they are sensitive not to OH but to some other unidentified species (195).

Investigations involving the use of catalytic probes, Wrede-Harteck gauges, air after-glow and NO<sub>2</sub> titration, and electron spin resonance for the measurement of atom concentrations in discharged water and peroxide vapors and related systems have been reviewed elsewhere (109). Avramenko (6) observed a characteristic greenish yellow glow when NO was introduced into the gas flowing from the discharge zone in water vapor and concluded that this discharge may be a source of oxygen atoms as well as of OH. The presence of oxygen atoms was also indicated by a glow appearing upon addition of acetylene (14), as was also deduced from observed oxidation reactions (7). Neutral AgNO3 solutions and  $Fe^{2+}$  in sulfuric acid medium have been used for estimating the concentration of H and OH produced by the water vapor discharge (44, 50, 151, 217). Electron spin resonance and calorimetric methods (126, 204) have recently been used to measure the concentration of hydrogen atoms and their rate of recombination.

#### D. RATE CONSTANTS AND THERMOCHEMICAL DATA

Considerable information has recently been obtained from discharge flow experiments at temperatures near 300°K about the rates of elementary reactions involving hydrogen and oxygen. Little significance can be given to early work based exclusively on product analysis (91). In recent studies (37, 38, 112) the concentrations of the labile species have been followed throughout the reaction and the over-all stoichiometry established. The concentrations of H and O in the reacting gases were determined by measuring the intensities of the chemiluminescent HNO and  $NO_2$  (air after-glow) emissions, respectively (37, 38), whereas the concentrations of OH radicals in flow systems were followed by electronic absorption spectroscopy (112).

Rate constants determined for reactions involving OH radicals in the gas phase in low-pressure discharge flow systems are given in Table IV.

#### TABLE IV

## Rates of Reactions Involving OH Radicals in the Gas Phase at Low Pressures $(1\sim10 \text{ mm})$

		Rate constant at ~300°K,	
Reaction	Method	1. mole <sup>-1</sup> sec <sup>-1</sup>	$\mathbf{Ref}$
$\begin{array}{c} OH + OH \rightarrow \\ H_2O + O \end{array}$	Electronic absorp- tion	$(1.5 \pm 0.4) \times 10^{9}$	112
	Electron spin resonance	$\leq 10^{3}$	230
$\begin{array}{c} OH + H_2 \rightarrow \\ H_2O + H \end{array}$	Ultraviolet ab- sorption	$\sim 10^{4}$	15
	Electron spin resonance	$(5.7 \pm 0.7)  imes 10^6$	230
	Electronic absorp- tion	$(4.3 \pm 1.0) \times 10^{6}$	112
$\begin{array}{c} OH + O \rightarrow \\ O_2 + H \end{array}$	Chemiluminescent and air after- glow emissions	$(3 \pm 1) \times 10^{10}$	37
	Electronic absorp-	$(1.1 \pm 0.4) \times 10^{10}$	112
	Emission	$1.2 imes10^{10}$	110
$\begin{array}{c} \mathrm{OH} + \mathrm{H} \rightarrow \\ \mathrm{H}_2 + \mathrm{O} \end{array}$	Electronic absorp- tion	$3.6 \times 10^{s}$	112

Rate constants for the termolecular reaction  $H + O_2 + M \rightarrow O_2H + M$  are given in Table V.

#### TABLE V

THIR	D-ORDER RATE CONSTANTS FOR T	HE
$\mathrm{H} + \mathrm{O}_2 + \mathrm{M}$	$\rightarrow$ O <sub>2</sub> H + M Reaction at Low	PRESSURES
Third body	Rate constant at $\sim 300^{\circ}$ K,	
(M)	cm <sup>s</sup> molecule <sup>-2</sup> sec <sup>-1</sup>	Ref
$\mathbf{H}_{2}$	$1 \times 10^{-33}$	13
$\mathbf{He}$	$(2.1 \pm 0.2) \times 10^{-32}$	38
Ar	$(2.2 \pm 0.2) \times 10^{-32}$	38
$H_2O$	$(5.2 \pm 2.1) \times 10^{-31}$	38

Avramenko and Kolesnikova (13) assumed that  $O_2H$  radicals formed in the primary process are exclusively removed by the reaction

$$O_2H + O_2H \longrightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$$

and calculated the rate constant for the reaction  $H + O_2 + H_2 \longrightarrow O_2H + H_2$  from the measured rate of formation of  $H_2O_2$ . Subsequent work (38) showed, however, that  $O_2H$  radicals are predominantly removed by the reactions



the rate constants of which are presumably  $3 \times 10^8$  l. mole<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup>, so that the value of the rate constant obtained by Avramenko and Kolesnikova (13) must be considered inaccurate.

Reaction rate data for  $O + H_2$  and  $H + O_2$  systems producing OH radicals and H or O atoms are given in Table VI.

Thermochemical data appearing in the recent literature for reactions involving H and O atoms and OH and  $O_2H$  radicals in the gas phase are collected in Table VII.

The discharge-flow methods by which most of these kinetic and thermochemical data have been obtained unfortunately suffer from a number of disadvantages; the possible presence of electronically or vibrationally excited species, the contribution of surface reactions, and complications resulting from viscous flow are usually disregarded.

#### IV. NATURE OF THE CONDENSED PRODUCTS

#### A. EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES

#### 1. Decomposition Kinetics

In most of the experimental work on the kinetics of oxygen evolution from the condensed product, neither rate constants nor activation energies were evaluated. Jones and Winkler (103) observed that above 153°K the rate of evolution first increased with temperature, and then remained practically constant until decomposition was complete. The ultimate amount of oxygen at 195°K was the same as that evolved from comparable amounts of the product warmed to room temperature. Although this observation is in agreement with the work of some others (2, 95), the results of Ghormley (70) showed that a major proportion of the oxygen is evolved only at temperatures above  $213^{\circ}$ K.

Detailed investigations (161, 171, 209) of the decomposition kinetics at constant temperatures indicated that the condensed product began to decompose in the solid phase at about 160°K, but the process reached its greatest intensity after the system melted (70). The decomposition in the liquid phase has been shown to be homogeneous and first order (171). Assuming that the decomposition in the solid phase also followed a first-order law, activation energies were determined from the rate of change of pressure

#### TABLE VI

RATE CONSTANTS, PRE-EXPONENTIAL FACTORS, AND ACTIVATION ENERGIES FOR THE REACTIONS  $O + H_2 \rightarrow OH + H \text{ and } H + O_2 \rightarrow OH + O \text{ at } \sim 300^{\circ}\text{K}$ 

Reaction	Rate constant, l. mole <sup>-1</sup> sec <sup>-1</sup>	Pre-exponential factor, l. mole <sup>-1</sup> sec <sup>-1</sup>	Activation energy, kcal mole <sup>-1</sup>	Ref
$O + H_2 \rightarrow OH + H$	$2.7 imes10^{3}$	$1.2 imes10^{10}$	9.2	36
	$1.9 \times 10^{3}$	$1.2  imes 10^{10}$	$9.4 \pm 0.7$	37
			$6 \pm 1$	91
	$(3 \pm 1) \times 10^{4}$			109
	$6.7 imes10^{3}$	$2.5 imes10^{9}$	$7.7 \pm 1$	112
	$(2 \pm 1) \times 10^4$	$(3 \pm 1.5) \times 10^{10}$	$8.3 \pm 1.5$	232
$H + O_2 \rightarrow OH + O$	0.18			38
	0.16	$2.3 imes10^{11}$	$17.8 \pm 1$	112
	0.16	$1.2  imes 10^{12}$	$16.8 \pm 1$	112

#### TABLE VII

Enthalpies and Free Energies for Reactions Involving OH and  $O_2H$  Radicals in the Gas Phase

	←Kcal mole <sup>-1</sup> at	300°K	
Reaction	$\Delta H$	$\Delta F$	Ref
Reactions of OH radicals			
$OH + OH \rightarrow H_2 + O_2$	$-17.8\pm0.7$		89
$OH + OH \rightarrow H_2O + O$	-16.9	-15.62	112
$OH + O_2H \rightarrow H_2O + O_2$	$-70.6 \pm 4$		89
$OH + O \rightarrow O_2 + H$	-16.79	-14.99	112
$OH + O_2 \rightarrow O_2H + O$	$55.2 \pm 4.5$		89
$OH + H \rightarrow H_2 + O$	-1.87	-1.38	112
$OH + H_2 \rightarrow H_2O + H$	$-14.6\pm0.5$		89
	-15.03	-14.24	112
$OH + H_2O_2 \rightarrow O_2H + H_2O$	$-29.3 \pm 4.5$		89
Reactions of O <sub>2</sub> H radicals			
$O_2H + O_2H \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$	$-42.3\pm6$		89
$O_2H + H \rightarrow H_2 + O_2$	$-57.0 \pm 4$		89
$O_2H + H \rightarrow 2OH$	$-39.2 \pm 4$		89
$O_2H + O \rightarrow OH + O_2$	$-55.2 \pm 4$		89
$O_2H + H_2 \rightarrow H_2O_2 + H$	$14.7 \pm 4$		89
$O_2H + H_2O \rightarrow OH + H_2O_2$	30.0		122
Reactions of atomic hydrogen			
$H + O_2 \rightarrow OH + O$	$16.0 \pm 0.5$		89
$H + O_3 \rightarrow OH + O_2$	$-77.7\pm0.5$		89
$H + H_2O \rightarrow OH + H_2$	$10.6 \pm 4$		89
$H + H_2O_2 \rightarrow O_2H + H_2$	$-14.7 \pm 4$		89
$\rm H+H_2O_2\rightarrow OH+H_2O$	$-68.5 \pm 0.5$		89
Reactions of atomic oxygen			
$O + H_2 \rightarrow OH + H$	$1.81 \pm 0.5$		89
$O + H_2O \rightarrow 2OH$	$16.4 \pm 0.7$		89
$O + H_2O_2 \rightarrow OH + O_2H$	$-2.9 \pm 4$		89

on slow uniform heating. The relationship between log k and 1/T was described by two straight lines intersecting at the melting point of the system (203°K), indicating that the decomposition is a complex process consisting of at least two stages, one occurring in the solid phase and the other in the liquid phase, and that a definite activation energy can be assigned to each stage. Activation energies calculated on this basis are given in Table VIII. The two-stage oxygen evolution was explained by postulating H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> which decomposes by different mechanisms in the two phases (161, 171, 209).

#### TABLE VIII

Activation Energies from Kinetic Data for the Decomposition Reactions of the Condensed Product

Ref
171
161
209

#### 2. Oxidation-Reduction Analyses

To determine whether the condensed product contains a species stable only at low temperatures, a large excess of ceric sulfate solution was added directly before the product was removed from the liquid nitrogen bath (86, 146). The mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and then analyzed for excess ceric ion. More ceric ion was reduced by the mixture under these conditions than when the oxidant was added to condensed product after it had been warmed to room temperature. The increase in apparent moles of peroxide found in the cold runs was equal to the moles of oxygen evolved in the warm runs. In experiments in which the relative yields of the products varied somewhat, there was qualitative indication that the evolved oxygen and water yields increased and decreased together (146).

Gladney and Garvin in similar experiments used ceric sulfate for oxidation analyses and either acidified potassium iodide or basic sodium arsenite for reduction analyses (86). They also found differences between the apparent peroxide titers of frozen and melted samples, amounting to 3 to 8% for reduction analyses and 1 to 7% for oxidation analyses, indicating the presence of some chemical species stable only at low temperatures. The reproducibility of the titer values was poor; the upper limits gave a reduction/oxidation ratio for the presumed species of about 1:1, consistent with the isomeric peroxide postulated originally by Geib and Harteck (68, 69), while average values gave 2:1, consistent with the quasi-molecular  $H_2O_3$ (71).

#### TABLE IX

Infrared Absorption Spectra (Frequencies in  $cm^{-1}$ ) of  $H_2O$ ,  $H_2O_2$ , and Products from Their Discharges Condensed at 77 °K (236)

Discharged	Discharged	Starting	material			ectra
H2O2 VADOF	H <sub>2</sub> O vapor	H <sub>1</sub> O <sub>1</sub>	H <sub>2</sub> O	H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	H <sub>2</sub> O	Ref
		550			520	168
	••	558			020	100
	• •	569	· ·	• •	••	
• •	••	500	• •	• •	• •	
• •	••	590			• •	00.140
• •	••	610	• •	000	• •	80, 149
••	••	630		660	• •	72
••	680	660	• •	680	• •	80
		690	••	690		34, 80, 149
••		700				
755	730	748	••		••	
788		775	••	• •		
	806	••	805	800		80
		810	815	809	812	80, 149, 168
	850		840	878	830	72. 168
850	880	••	850	880	850	80 90 149 18
000	800		000	000	000	00, 00, 110, 10
900	097	••	• •	••	••	
920	927	• •	••	••	••	
902	930	• •	1045	••		
		• •	1045	••	• •	<b>F</b> 0
1128	1115		••	1110	••	76
1150	• •	• •	••	• •	••	
1215		••	1215		1220	168
1265	••	1265	• •		••	
1280	••	••	••	••	••	
••	1300	••	••	1300	••	72, 183
1325		1322		1332	••	80, 149
		1342		1370		80
	1375	1379		1378		72, 183, 198
••	1010	1385	••	1385		80, 149
••	••	1412	••	1410	••	80 149
• •	••	1/25		1420	••	79
1460	••	1450	• •	1400	••	12
1400	• •	1400	••	• •	••	
1490	••	1485	• •	• •	• •	
1510	••	••	••	• •	• •	
1570	• •	1570	••		• •	
1590	• •	1590	••	••	• •	
1615		• •	••	••	1620	168
••		••	••		1644	123
1650	1648	1657	1647		1650	80
			••	2163	••	76
		.,			2222	123
					2230	168
	••				2240	80
2325		••				
2020		• •	• •	• •	••	
2002	2002	• •	••	• •	• •	
2370	• •	••	••	••	••	
2445	••	••	••	• •	••	
2470	• •		••	••	••	
2515	• •	2590		• •	••	
2720	••	••	2700	••	• •	
2726			••	2733	••	72
		2840	••	2810	• •	80
••	••	2850	3050	2840	• •	80
••	Wide band at		3070		3020	168
	3070-3400		3090			
	with max		••		3156	123
	at				3176	168
3182	3250	3182	3195	3182		80
		3200	3210	3218	3220	72, 168
3236		0	3=10	0=10	3240	168
0200		••	3250	3270	3250	80
••		• •	0200	0410	0400	00

Condense	d product					
Discharged	Discharged	Starting	material-	~	Known spect	tra
H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> vapor	H <sub>2</sub> O vapor	H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	H <sub>2</sub> O	H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	H <sub>1</sub> O	Ref
••			3292	3292	3256	80, 123, 149
3337		3325	3320		••	
		3350		••	3380	168
••			3400		3400	168
••		3430			••	
3544		3570	••		••	
3740		••	••	••	••	

TABLE IX (Continued)

#### 3. Ultraviolet Absorption

Results of earlier examinations, by ultraviolet absorption methods, of frozen matrices containing OH and  $O_2H$  have been summarized by Broida (28). The absorption, at the visible-ultraviolet threshold, of the condensed product obtained from dissociated water or peroxide consisted of a few broad bands at 4020, 3900, 3740, and possibly also 3610 A, which disappeared gradually on warming to about 138°K (74). Robinson and McCarty (189) detected an absorption band at 3110 A in the products from discharges through  $H_2O_2$ -Ar and  $H_2O$ -Ar mixtures condensed at 4°K. This was identified as the  $O \leftarrow O$ band of the OH  $A^2\Sigma \leftarrow X^2 \Pi_{1/2}$  system, shifted by 395  $cm^{-1}$  to the red. Two fainter bands were also observed, 70 cm<sup>-1</sup> apart, which may be due to Q(1) and R(1) transitions.

#### 4. Infrared Absorption

Preliminary studies (73, 81) of the infrared absorption of the condensed product from the water vapor discharge showed besides the well-known bands of ice and solid hydrogen peroxide, a few others, and particularly a strong, sharp band at  $1305 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ , which was at first attributed to the isomeric peroxide  $H_2O \rightarrow O$ . Further investigation indicated that this isomer should have the O-O vibration at approximately 880 cm<sup>-1</sup>, in the same region as the normal  $H_2O_2$  molecule, and that it was not possible to establish the presence of this isomer of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> on the basis of the available spectroscopic evidence. Subsequently it was shown that the odd absorption bands and especially that at 1305  $cm^{-1}$  were due, in fact, to traces of nitrogen oxides and oxyacids originating from atmospheric contamination (77, 79).

The infrared absorption, from 2 to 25  $\mu$ , of the condensed products from dissociated water vapor or from the H-O<sub>2</sub> system was shown to be identical with that of 1:1 mixtures of water and hydrogen peroxide condensed from the vapor (18). This argues against the presence in the condensed product of appreciable amounts of higher peroxides such as H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. Detection of O<sub>2</sub>H in these studies would rest entirely on the O-O stretching mode because of considerable interference from the very strong and diffuse (even at low temperatures) absorption bands of water and hydrogen peroxide (78).

The infrared spectra of thin films of solid ozone which had been bombarded with hydrogen atoms at 70°K (76) were found to be identical with those of solid mixtures of  $H_2O$  and  $H_2O_2$  (80) except for three strong bands at 2110, 1050, and 705  $cm^{-1}$  due to unreacted ozone. From the intensity of the weak peaks at 2163 and 1110 cm<sup>-1</sup>, the mole fraction of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the reacted film was calculated to be about one-third (76). If the hypothetical superoxide  $H_2O_4$  were present in any appreciable amount, it should have been detected easily from the typical vibrations of the  $O_4$  "skeleton" (76). Comparison with the sulfur analog  $H_2S_4$  which has Raman bands at 862, 483, 450, 229, and 185 cm<sup>-1</sup>, suggested that O-O stretching and bending modes would occur in the frequency region studied. It was subsequently pointed out that the failure of Giguere and Chin (76) to detect absorption bands which could be ascribed to  $H_2O_4$  was primarily due to the use of solid ozone in the synthesis of the condensed product (166, 235).

No evidence for  $O_2H$  was found in the products condensed at 4°K from dissociated water and peroxide vapors and from the H- $O_2$  system (92). In the infrared spectra of H<sub>2</sub>O and D<sub>2</sub>O molecules trapped in Ar matrices at 4°K, lines at 3574 and 2635 cm<sup>-1</sup> were assigned to the OH and OD stretching frequencies, respectively (169). Similarly in frozen (4°K), discharged 50% H<sub>2</sub>- (or D<sub>2</sub>-) Ar mixtures containing NO, lines at 3596 cm<sup>-1</sup> (or 2680) were assigned to the OH or OD radical. Evidence for a vibration-rotation structure was, however, absent (169).

A comparative infrared study of the products condensed at 77°K from the H–O<sub>3</sub>(liq) system and discharged H<sub>2</sub>O, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and D<sub>2</sub>O did not reveal any bands related to the presence of hydrogen superoxides (136), although the absence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at 77°K in the condensed product from H–O<sub>3</sub>(liq) system was confirmed (231).

Very recently the infrared absorption spectra of the condensed products from discharged  $H_2O$  and  $H_2O_2$  vapors have been shown to differ from those of the starting materials (236). The spectra obtained by Yagodovskaya and Nekrasov (236) are compared to the known spectra of  $H_2O$  and  $H_2O_2$  in the solid phase

in Table IX. In addition to bands which can be assigned to water and hydrogen peroxide in the solid phase, a group of new bands are shown by the condensed product. The frequencies 900, 920, 927, 936, 962, 1115, 1128, 1150, 1280, 1510, and 2632  $\rm cm^{-1}$ constitute a large group of intense bands which cannot be due to accidental impurities. The appearance of these new bands may be due either to structural changes in water or hydrogen peroxide in the condensed phase-formation of new hydrogen bonds, intermolecular interactions or association (80, 95)-or else to the formation of hydrogen superoxides. From a comparison of the spectra of the condensed products with the spectra of  $H_2S_4$ ,  $D_2O_2$ , and the normal paraffins, the absorption bands 900, 920, 927, 936, 962, 1115, 1128, 1150, and 2362  $\text{cm}^{-1}$  were considered to be associated with the presence of  $H_2O_4$  in the condensed product (236).

It may be noted that infrared absorption attributed to  $O_2H$  has recently been observed in the product obtained by photolyzing mixtures of HI and  $O_2$  in an Ar matrix at 4°K (150).

#### 5. Paramagnetic Resonance Absorption

Paramagnetic resonance absorption has been observed in the products condensed at 77°K from discharged water vapor and related systems. Livingston, Ghormley, and Zeldes (131) observed that at 23,000 Mc, the condensed product from discharged water vapor showed a main peak at g = 2.0085 with a shoulder at about 2.027. The shoulder was much less pronounced in observations made at 9000 Mc. The absorption was at first considered to be two unresolved lines, perhaps due to two different free radicals. An absorption line of the same appearance was obtained when  $D_2O$  and concentrated  $H_2O_2$  were used instead of water and also when hydrogen or NH<sub>3</sub> passed through a discharge was blended with oxygen and condensed at 77°K. The paramagnetic absorption, as well as the pale yellow color of the products, disappeared on warming to about 140°K, appreciably below the temperature at which oxygen evolution begins. There was no evidence for the presence of atomic hydrogen in any of the samples examined (131).

Sands (196) has observed similarly shaped absorption lines in glass and has shown that such lines can arise from a species having an anisotropic g value which is averaged over random orientations. Livingston, Ghormley, and Zeldes (131) suggested that the absorption line observed in their condensed products might be due to OH or O<sub>2</sub>H radicals; in these cases, there could be residual unquenched orbital angular momentum giving rise to anisotropy. As the condensed product from D<sub>2</sub>O appeared to be no different from that from H<sub>2</sub>O, the hyperfine interactions with the hydrogen were apparently small enough to be masked by the over-all envelope of the anisotropic line.

In subsequent studies sharp separation of the secondary maximum was obtained by using 15,000 Mc/sec (87). The line observed was asymmetric and had a gfactor close to 2 and a width of 20-30 gauss. As the frequency was increased, the width of the line increased and its asymmetry became more marked, indicating that the width of the line was due both to anisotropic broadening ( $g_{\parallel} \neq g_{\perp}$ ) and to a spin-lattice interaction. The line cannot be due to atomic hydrogen which would show a doublet with a 500-gauss separation. Neither can it be due to the O+H radical as the latter is in a  ${}^{3}\Sigma_{1}$  state and would give two narrow lines.

The spectra of discharge products from  $H_2O$  and  $H_2O_2$ condensed at 4°K in a hydrogen matrix also consisted in each case of a broad asymmetrical line, the highfield lobe having a double-humped structure (99–101). Since these spectra were obtained in systems considered favorable to  $O_2H$  production (53, 56), and since the possibility that the absorption is due to OH is weakened by negative results for trapped NO (which has a similar electronic structure), it was deduced that the observed absorption was due to  $O_2H$  (101).

Paramagnetic absorption has also been observed in the products condensed at 77°K from the interaction of atomic hydrogen with oxygen (12, 13) or liquid 100%ozone (166, 210). The spectra were identical with those from discharged  $H_2O$  and  $H_2O_2$  vapors. Avramenko and Kolesnikova (12, 13) obtained an epr signal from products condensed at 77°K by placing the trap 4 cm from the point of mixing of H and  $O_2$ . In this case the q factor was close to that of diphenylpicrylhydrazyl, and the total width of the signal was 23-26 gauss. Defrosting the condensate led to disappearance of the signal. In tests where a signal was detected,  $H_2O_2$  was found after the tube was opened; in tests with blanks, where no signal was obtained, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was not found. The signals were resolved graphically into two symmetrical components, the areas of which were added to determine the radical concentration. With the condensed product from the  $H-O_{3}(liq)$  system, the g factor of the absorption line was 2.009 and the width about 75 gauss (210).

The paramagnetic absorption of the condensed product has been compared with that of solutions (5 to 98 wt %) of hydrogen peroxide exposed to ultraviolet radiation and frozen to 77°K (104-108, 124, 131, 213, 233, 234). The spectra were identical at all frequencies employed (850-12,000 Mc/sec). Since OH radical is known to be present in irradiated H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> solutions (98), it was concluded that it must be present in the condensed products. However, secondary reactions are possible in these systems. Subsequent experiments (107) have shown that irradiated 3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in H<sub>2</sub>O, in which case secondary reactions are unlikely, gave only one line which became a doublet after the sample was left for 30 min at 130°K. The single line was assigned to OH, obtained in the primary event during the irradiation of  $H_2O_2$ , and it was suggested that OH may be transformed into  $O_2H$  on heating or at a high  $H_2O_2$  concentration giving a doublet line (107).

In related studies of  $\gamma$ -irradiated ice, paramagnetic resonance spectra were earlier interpreted to indicate two radical species, H and OH, which, on annealing, disappeared at 100 and 145°K, respectively (140). Subsequent studies (205) showed that the epr spectrum of ice subjected to  $\gamma$ -irradiation at 77°K consisted essentially of a doublet centered at g = 2.008 and split by 40 gauss, whereas the corresponding spectrum of irradiated D<sub>2</sub>O consisted of a triplet with approximately 6 gauss between adjacent lines. The doublet decayed rapidly above 100°K leaving a residual broad line which was thermally stable up to approximately 145°K. The main spectrum was attributed to OH and the residual line assigned to  $O_2H$ . However, species trapped at 77°K from a stream of H<sub>2</sub>O molecules subjected to 100-ev electron bombardment did not include OH; in this case two absorption spectra were observed, one of which was attributed to the solvated electron  $(H_2O)_n$ , and the other to  $O_2H$  (139).

The ratios, for different systems, of the number of unpaired electrons to the number of molecules of hydrogen peroxide eventually found are given in Table X.

#### TABLE X

# Ratio of the Number of Unpaired Electrons to the Number of Molecules of $H_2O_2$ Remaining after Decomposition

Source of condensed product (77°K)	Ratio	Ref
Discharged H <sub>2</sub> O vapor	0.0065	131
	$\sim 0.0060$	87
	0-0.0070	210
Discharged H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> vapor	0.0110	131
$H + O_2$ reaction	0.0080	131
$H + O_{3}(liq)$ reaction	0.007-0.009	210

On this basis the condensed products contained roughly 0.3% by weight of radical if  $O_2H$  is assumed (131, 210) or 0.15% for OH (131). These results suggest that most of the radicals react during condensation and further that the number of radicals present is not sufficient to produce the oxygen subsequently evolved. Thus reactions such as  $OH + O_2H \rightarrow H_2O +$  $O_2$  and  $O_2H + O_2H \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$  cannot account for more than a minor proportion of the oxygen evolved.

In one investigation (210) it was observed that in the water vapor system the condensed product formed two rings in the trap, one immediately above the level of the liquid nitrogen and the other immediately below. The lower ring showed the characteristic paramagnetic absorption reported earlier (131) whereas the upper ring showed no absorption, although both rings evolved oxygen on warming and yielded hydrogen peroxide in the same concentration. It is clear that in this case the calculation of the radical/peroxide ratio should be based on the peroxide content of the lower ring only and that the over-all ratio would not be significant. This may account for the wide variation in the values reported for the water vapor system (Table X). In the  $H-O_2$  and  $H-O_3(liq)$  systems the product is not separated into rings and this difficulty does not arise.

The accumulated evidence from paramagnetic resonance absorption studies thus indicates that the condensed product contains  $O_2H$  up to a maximum concentration of 0.3 wt %, this maximum concentration differing little with the method of preparation.

The epr spectrum of the condensed product is similar to those of "Teflon" and polyethylene which have been exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays at 77°K, to those of certain biological materials containing C-O-O radicals which have been frozen in air (142, 158, 184, 223), and also to that of the potassium peroxide radical K-O-O (23). Thus it resembles spectra which are apparently characteristic of peroxy radicals, which supports the hypothesis that the radical present in the condensed product is O<sub>2</sub>H.

#### 6. Magnetic Susceptibility

The magnetic susceptibilities of the condensed products from discharged water vapor and from the reaction of atomic hydrogen with liquid 100% ozone have been measured (166, 208) using Mauer's experimental scheme (141) with some improvements for compensation for weight increases (167), the specimen being kept automatically at the same point in the magnetic field. Before the start of decomposition, that is, below 160°K, the condensed products behaved as feebly diamagnetic systems with a susceptibility of  $-(0.1-0.2) \times 10^{-6}$  emu. When the temperature was raised above 160°K, the system became increasingly paramagnetic as oxygen was evolved. These results suggest that the molecular oxygen evolved on decomposition of the condensed product is not originally present as such (75, 76, 95). Assuming that the diamagnetism of the undecomposed product was due to  $H_2O_4$ , a magnetic susceptibility of 0 to  $-0.4 \times 10^{-6}$ emu was estimated for the superoxide, indicating that the valencies in this compound are saturated and that it possesses the chain structure H-O-O-O-H (208).

#### 7. X-Ray and Electron Diffraction

X-Ray diffraction patterns of the condensed products from discharged water and peroxide vapors and from the reaction of hydrogen atoms with liquid ozone were studied over the temperature range from  $77^{\circ}$ K to complete melting (221). An intense halo was observed at about 3.43 A, whereas ice and  $H_2O_2$ ice at 77°K gave only weak halos at 3.65 and 3.21 A, respectively. An amorphous phase was found in the condensed products from all three systems; in addition crystalline ice and crystalline  $H_2O_2$  were identified in the deposit from discharged  $H_2O$  and discharged  $H_2O_2$  vapors. Only crystalline ice was present at 77°K in the material prepared from liquid ozone,  $H_2O_2$ appearing above 160°K.

Subsequent experiments (138) have confirmed the intense halo at 3.4 A (in addition to low-intensity ice lines) for the product from the hydrogen atom-liquid ozone reaction at  $77^{\circ}$ K. No change in the pattern was detected when the product was warmed to  $90^{\circ}$ K for 10 min and then recooled to  $77^{\circ}$ K, but, when it was warmed to  $195^{\circ}$ K and then recooled, the X-ray pattern of hydrogen peroxide appeared.

In contrast to these observations a mixture of  $H_2O$ and  $H_2O_2$  condensed at 77°K exhibited no discrete lines, although an ill-defined halo appeared at about 3.4 A. When this mixture was warmed to 90°K, for 10 min and then recooled to 77°K, both ice and hydrogen peroxide were indicated, in agreement with earlier unpublished results of Bolz, Mauer, and Peiser (26), who examined the X-ray pattern of hydrogen peroxide condensed from its vapor at 77 and 4°K and found that the condensate was amorphous and did not exhibit the sharp lines characteristic of crystalline materials. Crystallization occurred spontaneously at 90°K, the change in structure being accompanied by evolution of heat.

The X-ray diffraction data thus consistently indicate that the condensed product as formed at 77°K from the hydrogen atom-liquid ozone reaction is not crystalline and does not contain  $H_2O_2$ , the latter being produced only upon warming (138, 221). These results indeed support the claim for the presence of a superoxide of hydrogen, which on warming decomposes to  $H_2O_2$ , as earlier proposed (121).

In all of these X-ray diffraction studies the condensed product was withdrawn from the vacuum apparatus and measurements were made at atmospheric pressure.

The electron diffraction patterns of the condensed product from the water vapor discharge at  $83^{\circ}$ K determined *in situ* showed that it has an amorphous structure quite distinct from the structure of amorphous solutions of hydrogen peroxide and of amorphous ice (133), indicating that at  $83^{\circ}$ K the condensed product contains, in addition to water and hydrogen peroxide, some component responsible for the observed difference in diffraction patterns. The occurrence of a ring corresponding to an interatomic distance of 3.48 A located between the rings for amorphous ice and amorphous hydrogen peroxide solutions indicated that the atoms are packed more closely in the condensed product than in amorphous ice and less closely than in amorphous solutions of hydrogen peroxide. The higher peroxide, probably  $H_2O_4$ , on entering the condensed product apparently loosens the atomic packing as compared with that in hydrogen peroxide solutions, but, on the other hand, makes this packing more compact than in the case of amorphous ice, presumably because of the formation of a large number of hydrogen bonds. Phase transitions in the condensed product were not observed up to  $153^{\circ}K$ ; at this temperature all components crystallized (133).

Observed X-ray and neutron diffraction patterns of oxygen consisted of three lines corresponding to 3.15, 1.44, and 1.03 A (85, 93, 94). The electron diffraction patterns obtained with the condensed product contained no such lines (133). This was advanced as evidence for the absence of occluded or adsorbed oxygen in the condensed product.

#### 8. Warming Curves and Calorimetry

#### a. Warming Curves

Hogg and Spice (22, 95) determined warming curves, both simple and differential, for the condensed products from the water vapor discharge and the H-O<sub>2</sub> system. The approximate value for the heat evolution accompanying the phase transition at 160°K obtained from these curves was 1-2 kcal/mole of hydrogen peroxide finally present, for both systems; because the precision of the method was inherently low, Hogg and Spice considered this value to be a lower limit and that the true value could not be more than twice as great. In experiments in which the product was recooled to 77°K after the phase transition had occurred (but before melting) and then rewarmed, no further heat evolution was observed. Comparison with warming curves for glasses formed at 77°K from concentrated hydrogen peroxide solutions led Hogg and Spice (95) to conclude that the heat-evolution process is devitrification of an ice-peroxide glass. On the other hand, Ghormley (70) found that warming curves for condensed products do in fact differ from those exhibited by peroxide glasses. According to Ghormley the condensed product partially crystallized between 160 and 200°K, and the resulting crystalline phase began to melt above 200°K. When warmed to 213°K, the liquid bubbled violently, evolving oxygen, and the temperature suddenly rose to as high as 400°K. The resulting  $H_2O_2$  solution when cooled rapidly to 77°K formed a glass which began to crystallize at about 160°K with an abrupt rise in temperature to 215°K. a eutectic temperature of the  $H_2O_2-H_2O$  system.

The heat evolved was estimated by Ghormley (70) from his warming curves using 0.757 cal/g for the heat capacity of 60% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (a value previously determined (84) for the range 273 to 300°K), and applying a 28%

correction for the heat capacity of the dewar and thermocouple. The observed temperature increase from 215 to 336°K on this basis indicated a heat evolution of 118 cal/g. Using Jones and Winkler's value (103) of 1:5.8 for the ratio of evolved  $O_2$  to final  $H_2O_2$  the heat evolved was 44 kcal/mole of evolved oxygen. Within the wide limits of possible error, this value corresponds to the heat of decomposition of  $H_2O_2$ (48 kcal/mole of evolved oxygen), but it also corresponds to the heats of decomposition of  $H_2O_3$  and  $H_2O_4$  providing the reactions

and

$$H_2O_4 \longrightarrow 2O_2H$$

are assumed to be only slightly endothermic. On the other hand, the heat of decomposition of  $H_2O \rightarrow O$ to form  $O_2$  would be only slightly less than the heat of dissociation of  $O_2$  (116 kcal/mole) if the heat absorbed in the reaction

 $H_2O_3 \longrightarrow OH + O_2H$ 

$$[H_2O \rightarrow O] \rightarrow H_2O + O$$

is small.

Warming curves obtained (206) by a thermographic technique using a rapid differential thermal analysis (182) revealed that as the product was warmed there were in fact three successive heat effects (Table XI),

# TABLE XITHERMOGRAPHIC HEATS OF DECOMPOSITION OF CONDENSED<br/>PRODUCT (206)Temp, °K $\Delta H$ 163–198-72 kcal/mole of $O_2$ 203–213+62 kcal/g of $H_2O_2$ 218 $-35 \pm 1$ kcal/mole of $O_2$

the first and third being exothermic and accompanied by the evolution of oxygen, the second being endothermic without oxygen evolution.

#### b. Calorimetry

Continuous heating of the condensed product in a calorimeter under adiabatic conditions also showed three successive heat effects (185).

(a) An exothermic effect ( $\Delta H = -79$  kcal/mole of O<sub>2</sub>) starting at 158°K and accompanied by evolution of one-third of the total oxygen, attributed in part to the reaction

$$2O_2H \longrightarrow H_2O_2(s) + O_2$$
 (Eq 6)

and in part to crystallization of the product.

(b) An endothermic effect  $(\Delta H = 100 \text{ cal/g of } H_2O_2)$  beginning at 203°K, without oxygen evolution, attributed to a change in the state of aggregation.

(c) An exothermic effect ( $\Delta H = -68$  kcal/mole of O<sub>2</sub>) beginning at 218°K, accompanied by the evolution of two-thirds of the total oxygen, attributed to the decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> in the liquid phase

$$H_2O_4(liq) \longrightarrow H_2O_2(liq) + O_2$$
 (Eq 7)

Subsequent visual and thermometric observations revealed that the method used to calculate  $\Delta H$  for the third stage was incorrect, and the value was recalculated to be  $39 \pm 4$  kcal/mole of O<sub>2</sub> (211). Furthermore, since the concentration of O<sub>2</sub>H in the condensed product has been shown to be not more than 0.3 wt % (87, 131), the disproportionation of O<sub>2</sub>H (Eq 6) could account for no more than 4% of the total oxygen evolved, thus discounting the earlier explanation (185) of the first exothermic effect in which 30% of the total oxygen is evolved. Accordingly it was suggested that the first heat effect is the sum of the heats of reactions 6 and 7 and the heat of crystallization of the amorphous portion of the condensed product.

Reported calorimetric heats of decomposition of the condensed products prepared by different methods are given in Table XII.

TABLE XII

HEAT OF DECOMPOSITION	of the Condensed Product
CALCULATED FROM	CALORIMETRIC DATA

Source of condensed	Temp of decomposi-	Heat of decomposition,	D-f
product	tion, "K	Real/mole of Or	Rer
Discharged $H_2O$			
vapor		$-17.8 \pm 2.2 (77^{\circ} \text{K})$	41
	158	-79	185
	218	-68	185
	218	$-39 \pm 4$	211
$H + O_{3}(liq)$		$-26.8 \pm 2.6 (77^{\circ} \text{K})$	41
reaction	210	-44	135
			137

The values of  $-17.8 \pm 2.2$  and  $-26.8 \pm 2.6$  (Table XII, ref 41) at 77°K were obtained using samples of known assay in an ice calorimeter (82) modified to suit the experimental conditions. In this work the contribution of O<sub>2</sub>H reactions to the heat of decomposition was neglected on the basis of the reported low concentration of these radicals (87, 131). The difference between the values for the condensed product from discharged water vapor and from the H + O<sub>3</sub>(liq) reaction (41) is greater than the estimated experimental error and was attributed either to a difference between the matrices or to traces of ozone or oxides of nitrogen in the hydrogen atom-ozone product.

Taking the heats of formation of  $O_2H$  in the gas phase and  $H_2O_2$  in the liquid phase to be 4.5 and -45.3 kcal/mole, respectively (67), the heat of reaction for

$$2O_2H \longrightarrow H_2O_2(liq) + O_2$$
 (Eq 8)

was calculated to be -54.3 kcal/mole of O<sub>2</sub> (211). Adding -2.5 kcal/mole for the heat of solidification of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> gives -56.8 kcal for the heat of reaction of Eq 6. Using this value and the experimentally determined value of -39 kcal/mole of O<sub>2</sub> for reaction 7, the contribution of crystallization to the first exothermic effect was calculated to be 33.1 cal/g of the condensed product and 2.6 kcal/mole of  $H_2O_2$ .

It was shown (211) that a value of  $-39 \pm 4$  kcal/ mole of O<sub>2</sub> for reaction 7 does not contradict existing thermochemical data and can with some confidence be used in further calculations. Thus the heat of formation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>(liq) was calculated to be -6 kcal/ mole and the heat of combination of O<sub>2</sub>H to form H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>-(liq) to be -15 kcal/mole of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. Using the cycle

the heat of reaction 6 was found to be -56.5 kcal/mole of O<sub>2</sub>, in good agreement with the value of -56.8 kcal/mole of O<sub>2</sub> given above and calculated from other data (211).

Calculated heats of formation of superoxides are summarized in Table XIII. In obtaining these values it was assumed that there is no interaction of the matrix with  $H_2O_4$  or  $H_2O_2$  upon decomposition, that the combination of  $O_2H$  forms  $H_2O_4$  only, and that  $O_2H$ has the same thermal properties as  $H_2O_2$ .

#### TABLE XIII

### Heat of Formation of $\rm H_2O_4$ from Dimerization of $\rm O_2H$ Radicals at $77^{\circ}\rm K$

	$\Delta H_{f}$ ,	
State	kcal/mole	Ref
Liquid	-27.9	41
_	-15.0	211
Solid	-4.0	41
	-2 + 10	135

#### B. EXISTENCE OF SUPEROXIDES OF HYDROGEN IN THE CONDENSED PRODUCT

#### 1. Experimental Evidence

All the evidence for the existence of superoxides of hydrogen is deductive rather than direct, dating back even to the Mendeleev era (19, 121, 148, 162). Moreover their existence has been claimed primarily to explain the thermal behavior of the condensed products discussed in this review; alternate hypotheses such as adsorption or occlusion of oxygen (2, 95, 229), existence of the so-called "abnormal" hydrogen peroxide (68) or an equivalent collision complex stable only at low temperatures (21, 103), and interaction of trapped free radicals (146) cannot adequately explain a number of observed features, such as the sharp onset of decomposition at 160°K which is independent of the rate and method of heating (70, 95, 103), the further decomposition at 213°K with an activation energy of 8 kcal/mole (161, 209), the constancy of the ratio of evolved oxygen to hydrogen peroxide remaining after

decomposition (Table XIV) regardless of the rate of introduction of reactants into the electrical discharge, and the very low concentration of trapped radicals in the condensed product (87, 131, 210). It may be mentioned that the existence of hydrogen superoxides at room temperature has also been postulated (4, 113, 125, 180, 216) but subsequent experiments have disproved these claims effectively (134, 145, 155, 156).

	TABLE XIV	
RATIO OF EVOLV FOR I	ed Oxygen to H2O2 Different Systems	2 Found,
System	Ratio	Ref
Discharged H <sub>2</sub> O	0.200	88
-	0.185	103
	0.179	170
	0.180	221
Discharged H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	0.163	21
	0.300	88
	0.300	221
$H + O_2(g)$	0.073	172
$H + O_{a}(liq)$	~1	221
· -·	1.00	121, 231

It was Ohara (171, 172) who first suggested that  $O_2H$  radicals present in the product combine to form the compound  $H_2O_4$  which at higher temperatures decomposes into oxygen and hydrogen peroxide.

The argument for the existence in the condensed product of the higher homologs of  $H_2O_2$ , such as  $H_2O_3$ and  $H_2O_4$ , is based on the following positive experimental evidence.

(a) At 77°K the condensed product contains unpaired electrons up to a concentration of 0.3 mole % probably in the free radical O<sub>2</sub>H (87, 131).

(b) The unpaired electrons disappear at  $138^{\circ}$ K and partial crystallization begins at about  $158^{\circ}$ K (70, 221).

(c) Warming curves (70), visual observations (70, 206), and calorimetric measurements (206, 209) show that between 203 and 213°K the product melts completely. Above 213°K oxygen evolution occurs with the liberation of about 39 kcal/mole of oxygen (70, 206, 211); H<sub>2</sub>O and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> remain.

(d) The lowest eutectic temperature for the  $H_2O-H_2O_2$  system being 217°K, melting of crystals in the product at 203°K indicates an appreciable concentration of some additional molecular species (70).

(e) Magnetic measurements (208) have shown that the condensed product is feebly diamagnetic; if the condensed product contained occluded or adsorbed oxygen, it would be paramagnetic.

Realizing that 0.3 mole % of  $O_2H$  cannot account for the total amount of evolved oxygen observed and that release of trapped molecular oxygen cannot account for the observed heat effects, Ghormley (71) suggested that  $H_2O_3$  is the species responsible for oxygen evolution, being formed on a surface below 160°K by the mechanism

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H \,+\,O_2 & \longrightarrow & O_2 H \\ \\ O_2 H \,+\,O H & \longrightarrow & H_2 O_3 \end{array}$$

and argued that  $H_2O_3$  was actually prepared many years ago by Bonhoeffer and Boehm (27). In support of his view Ghormley also cites recent experimental evidence for the existence of  $H_2O_3$  in solution (42).

The observations that in the H–O<sub>3</sub> system, the ratio of evolved oxygen to hydrogen peroxide remaining is approximately unity and that  $H_2O_2$  as such is not present at 77°K suggest the presence of  $H_2O_4$  (121, 231). Calculated average concentrations of  $H_2O_4$  produced in different systems are given in Table XV.

TABLE XV CALCULATED AVERAGE CONCENTRATIONS OF H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> at 77°K, FOR DIFFERENT SYSTEMS (221)

System	Concentration of H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> at ~300°K, mole %	Ratio of evolved O2 to H2O2	Calculated H2O4 concentrations mole %
Discharged H <sub>0</sub> O			
vapor	30	0.18	5
Discharged H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>			
vapor	44	0.30	13
$H + O_{s}(liq)$	33	1	20

An observation that perhaps augments the case for the existence of  $H_2O_3$  in these systems is the identification of  $O_3F_2$  as a major product obtained from a glow discharge through an  $O_2$ - $F_2$  mixture, the discharge tube being immersed in liquid oxygen (3, 115). It is also interesting to note that  $F_2O_4$ , the analog of  $H_2O_4$ , was suggested as a possible product in the same system.

#### 2. Bond Energies and Structure of Superoxides

Long ago Mendeleev (148) proposed for  $H_2O_4$  the structure



thus representing it as a hypothetical "ozonous acid" analogous to sulfurous and selenous acids. This structure, which presupposes the existence of quadrivalent oxygen, would require an extremely complicated mechanism for the formation of  $H_2O_4$  from  $O_2H$  radicals; this reaction would have a considerable energy of activation, a prediction not in agreement with the thermochemical data (70, 206, 211).

The structure  $H_2O_2 \cdot O_2$  (II) proposed by Smith (212) is likewise not acceptable since its decomposition into  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_2$  cannot account for the heat evolution observed experimentally (70, 206, 211).

The structure

suggested by Bakh (19) does correlate with the thermochemical data. Recently the bond energies in structure III have been calculated (211). Taking the dissociation energies of H<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> to be 103 and 118 kcal/mole, respectively (176, 228), and the heat of formation of the compound H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> to be -6 kcal/mole (211), the sum of the bond energies in structure III was calculated to be 333 kcal/mole using the scheme



Assuming that the energies of the H–O bonds and of the O–O bonds adjacent to them in structure III are the same as those of the corresponding bonds in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, the energy of the central O–O bond was calculated. Pauling's (176) values for the bond energies in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (H–O = 110 kcal, O–O = 35 kcal) give a value of 43 kcal, whereas Walsh's (228) values (H–O = 96 kcal, O–O = 65 kcal) give 11 kcal, for the energy of the central O–O bond in structure III. These values are to be compared with the heat of reaction for

$$2O_2H \longrightarrow H_2O_4(liq)$$

which has been reported to be -15 kcal (211).

Benson (24) has examined the theoretical aspects of the stability of  $H_2O_3$  and  $H_2O_4$ . Using the law of additivity of bond enthalpies (25), which is obeyed to within a few kilocalories even when species of vastly different electronegativities are bonded to the same atom, values for the H-O and O-O bonds were obtained and used to calculate  $\Delta H_f^{\circ}$  (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) = -11 kcal and  $\Delta H_t^{\circ}$  (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) = +10.5 kcal. The values obtained using only thermal data for  $H_2O$  and  $H_2O_2$  are  $\Delta H_{\rm f}^{\circ}$  (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) = -7 kcal and  $\Delta H_{\rm f}^{\circ}$  (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) = +18.1 kcal. According to Benson (24)  $H_2O_4$  is unstable with respect to decomposition into two O<sub>2</sub>H radicals by some 6.5 to 14 kcal, either value being such as to render the existence of  $H_2O_4$  extremely doubtful since the split into free radicals would require no nuclear shifts and would thus be expected to occur without activation energy. On the other hand, Benson (24) calculates that  $H_2O_3$  is stable with respect to a split into OH and O<sub>2</sub>H by some 17 to 21 kcal and suggests that although it might decompose readily at temperatures above 273°K, its existence at much lower temperatures is feasible.

With respect to the possibility of  $H_2O_3$  formation in the H-O<sub>3</sub>(liq) system at 77°K via the intermediate O<sub>3</sub>H, Benson (24) is of the opinion that the reaction of atomic hydrogen with ozone is so exothermic that the initial products would be OH and  $O_2$ , rather than  $O_3H$ . Alternate methods whereby  $H_2O_3$  would result from the formation of comparable amounts of OH and  $O_2H$  are not kinetically favorable because of the competing processes

and

$$OH + O_2H \longrightarrow H_2O + O_2$$

 $OH + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow H_2O + O_2H$ 

and secondary attack of the radicals on any  $H_2O_3$  formed. Thus Benson (24) concludes from thermodynamic and kinetic considerations that  $H_2O_3$  cannot be made by any methods thus far suggested.

#### V. REACTION MECHANISMS

Results of qualitative and quantitative studies of the low-pressure systems discussed in this review have been interpreted in terms of a variety of proposed mechanisms, none of which adequately accounts for all the observed features. In general, in each of these flow systems the over-all process comprises four successive stages: a discharge tube stage, in which initial dissociation is followed by reactions involving the species thus formed; a pre-trap stage occurring in the zone between the discharge exit and the cold trap in the  $H_2O$  and  $H_2O_2$  systems, or between the point of mixing of reactants and the cold trap in the H-O<sub>2</sub> and  $H-O_3(g)$  systems; a cold trap stage in which condensible species formed in preceding stages are collected and in which active species may interact at much lower temperatures; a final stage in which the product collected in the cold trap is warmed to room temperature. It is clear, therefore, that any comprehensive mechanism must describe all four stages and that the reactions occurring in any one stage can be elucidated only if the composition of the gases entering that stage is known.

#### A. DISCHARGE TUBE STAGE

For kineticists interest in the discharge itself lies, not in the complex processes occurring therein, but rather in its function as a source of atoms and free radicals, so that what is of concern is the nature and composition of the gases issuing from the discharge.

There is no doubt that the chief primary process occurring in the water vapor discharge is the dissociation of water molecules under electron impact into H and OH (173, 198). In the earlier investigations it was presumed that the active species issuing from the discharge consisted essentially of H and OH only, the concentration of atomic oxygen being considered negligible (103, 192, 198). However, in 1949 Oldenberg (174) argued that oxygen atoms are also to be expected; in fact, Avramenko (5, 6) at about that time reported NO after-glow experiments which indicated their presence, as was subsequently deduced from mass spectrometric data (127) and oxidation studies (7, 14). Undoubtedly the relative proportions of OH and O in the effluent gases depend upon the type of discharge used and upon experimental conditions (102). In this connection Kaufman (109) points out that it is difficult to reconcile Avramenko's claim (5, 6) that *both* OH and O are major products with the apparent great speed of the reaction

$$O + OH \longrightarrow O_2 + H$$

It has generally been accepted that  $H_2O_2$  is not present in discharged water vapor since it is not found in a Dry Ice cooled trap following the discharge tube (30, 66, 103); Frost and Oldenberg (62) found no ultraviolet absorption due to  $H_2O_2$  in a water vapor discharge, using a *static* system. As for other possible molecular species ( $H_2O$ ,  $H_2$ ,  $O_2$ ) no direct evidence for their existence as such in the gases emerging from the water vapor discharge has been reported, although it is reasonable to expect their presence under favorable conditions.

According to ultraviolet absorption evidence (62) a weak discharge through flowing  $H_2O_2$  vapor causes dissociation into OH, little if any H or O being produced, and the results of one study (21) of reactions in discharged  $H_2O_2$  were interpreted on this basis. However, in a subsequent investigation of the  $H_2O_2$ discharge (88) it was concluded that  $H_2O$  is an important intermediate product, and to account for this as well as for Frost and Oldenberg's observation (62) that OH formed in this discharge disappears much more rapidly than it does in an  $H_2O$  discharge, it was postulated that the OH produced by the initial scission of  $H_2O_2$  is rapidly consumed by the reaction

$$OH + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow O_2H + H_2O$$

the H<sub>2</sub>O thus formed then being dissociated by the discharge, initially into H and OH; dissociation by electron impact of OH into O and H was also considered to be significant. This interpretation of the processes in the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> discharge implies that O<sub>2</sub>H would be an important constituent in discharged H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> vapor; in fact, Foner and Hudson (58) have confirmed this by mass spectrometric methods.

#### B. PRE-TRAP STAGE

In the  $H-O_2$  and  $H-O_3$  gas systems this stage includes the initial reactions between H and  $O_2$  or  $O_3$  and the subsequent reactions involving the various species thus formed.

For the  $H-O_2$  system two initial reactions have been considered

$$O_2 + H + M \longrightarrow O_2 H + M$$
 (Eq 9)

$$O_2 + H \longrightarrow OH + O$$
 (Eq 10)

McKinley and Garvin (146) argued that only reaction 9 is important, disregarding reaction 10 on the basis of

earlier NO after-glow experiments (191) which apparently indicated the absence of oxygen atoms in this system. On the other hand, Avramenko and Kolesnikova (10, 11) obtained indirect chemical evidence for atomic oxygen when the reaction vessel had been washed with phosphoric acid, and considered that under these conditions the primary step is reaction 10 occurring on the surface. Foner and Hudson (54, 58) found OH but not O<sub>2</sub>H in mass spectrometric studies of this system at low pressures ( $\sim 1 \text{ mm}$ ); nevertheless, they suggested that the primary reaction is probably the formation by reaction 9 of  $O_2H$  which then reacts rapidly with H at the wall to form OH. Charters and Polanyi (33) arrived at the same conclusion from their chemiluminescence studies which confirmed the presence of OH and absence of  $O_2H$ .

For the initial reaction between H and  $O_3$  in the gas phase only the reaction

$$H + O_3 \longrightarrow O_2 + OH$$
 (Eq 11)

has been suggested (146, 207); convincing evidence for the existence of OH in this system has been reported (39, 63-65, 110, 147).

No direct investigations have been made of the reactions occurring in the pre-trap stage in the discharged H<sub>2</sub>O or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> systems or of the reactions occurring subsequent to the primary reactions in the H-O<sub>2</sub> or H-O<sub>3</sub>-(g) systems. The various reaction schemes which have been proposed for this stage have generally been based on assumptions regarding the composition of the gases entering the stage and the nature of the condensed product, and on a knowledge of the final products when the reactions are allowed to go to completion at room temperature. In view of the present uncertainty regarding both the composition of the gases at the beginning of the pre-trap stage and the composition in situ of the condensed product, it is clear that those mechanisms heretofore proposed should be considered tentative. Furthermore, some earlier discussions (e.g., 190, 191) were made before the significance of certain aspects (e.g., influence of trapping temperature, oxygen evolution) was realized.

Oldenberg (174) discussed the pre-trap stage in the discharged  $H_2O$  system in some detail. In a first attempt to correlate the H-O<sub>2</sub> system with the discharged H<sub>2</sub>O system, Jones and Winkler (103) presumed the establishment in the pre-trap stage of an equilibrium between two isomeric forms of a quasi-stable complex formed either by the dimerization of OH or by reaction between H and O<sub>2</sub>H

$$[H-O-O-H]^* \rightleftharpoons [H_2O \rightarrow O]^*$$

the linear isomer having been suggested earlier by Badin (16). This mechanism subsequently was adapted to include the discharged  $H_2O_2$  system (21). However, the scheme required the existence in the condensed product of the isomeric peroxide  $H_2O \rightarrow O$ , a compound not otherwise known and one whose existence in the product has not been established (see section IV).

McKinley and Garvin (146), to account for the results of their investigations of the H–O<sub>2</sub> and H–O<sub>3</sub>(g) systems, proposed a set of pre-trap reactions in which the first step was the formation of OH from H and the O<sub>2</sub>H presumed to be produced by initial reaction 9; their scheme differed essentially from that of Jones and Winkler (103) in that equivalent metathetical reactions replaced the summation of the formation and decomposition of the quasi-stable complexes. It also describes the discharged H<sub>2</sub>O system if it be assumed that molecular oxygen is formed in the discharge.

A quite different mechanism for the pre-trap stage in the H-O<sub>2</sub> system has been put forward by Avramenko and Kolesnikova (10, 11). As described above, they considered that reaction 10 occurring on the wall is the initial reaction, so that OH and O rather than O<sub>2</sub>H are the important active species in this stage. From their observation that the H<sub>2</sub>O yield was much greater than the H-atom input they concluded that water formation in the pre-trap stage proceeds by a chain mechanism.



#### C. COLD TRAP STAGE

The presence of  $H_2O_2$  as such in the solid condensed at 77°K from the discharged  $H_2O$  and  $H_2O_2$  systems and from the H-O<sub>2</sub> system has been well established (133, 138, 221, 236). The often-observed fact that in these systems no  $H_2O_2$  is found in a Dry Ice cooled trap (or indeed at temperatures above about 150°K) indicates that  $H_2O_2$  is not present in the gases entering the trap. It follows therefore that the peroxide found at 77°K has been formed in the trap itself. In view of the low temperature of peroxide formation it is apparent that the peroxide-forming reaction(s) must have little or no activation energy and most plausibly involve the combination of active species.

Possible low-temperature peroxide-forming reactions which have been proposed are

then they do so heterogeneously on the cold surface.

$$OH + OH \longrightarrow H_2O_2$$
 (Eq 12)

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H + O_2 H & \longrightarrow & H_2 O_2 \\ H_2 O + O & \longrightarrow & H_2 O_2 \end{array} & (Eq 13) \\ \end{array}$$

There is general agreement that if these reactions occur

Reaction 12 was originally invoked to account for peroxide formation in the discharged H<sub>2</sub>O system (191, 192) and reaction 13 for the  $H-O_2$  system (66). Since the demonstration of the close similarity of these systems (103), it has been generally presumed that reaction 12 and reaction 13 can both be operative in either system, as well as in discharged  $H_2O_2$  (88) and the H– $O_3(g)$  system (146). Reaction 13 has variously been considered to occur in one step as written, *i.e.*, presuming that  $O_2H$  enters the trap as such (146) or in two steps with the O<sub>2</sub>H being formed on the cold surface from H and  $O_2$  (66, 118). Reaction 14 has been advanced only by Avramenko and Kolesnikova (9-11). They claim that their experiments, in which H and  $O_2$ were mixed in a reaction vessel (rinsed with  $H_3PO_4$ ) before entering the cold trap, show that O<sub>2</sub> does not take part in peroxide formation (thus ruling out reaction 13): they exclude reaction 12 on the basis of an apparently faulty interpretation of the results of Foner and Hudson (54). It should be noted that attempts to carry out reaction 14 directly have failed (135, 190).

It has also been suggested (16, 21, 103) that peroxide formation in the trap is the result of stabilization by the cold surface of an unstable intermediate complex formed in the pre-trap stage either from two OH radicals or from H and  $O_2H$  (152).

The possible formation in the cold trap of  $H_2O_3$  in the discharged  $H_2O$  system has been attributed (71) to the wall reaction

$$OH + O_2H \longrightarrow H_2O_3$$

and of  $H_2O_4$  in both the discharged  $H_2O$  and discharged  $H_2O_2$  systems (88) to the reaction

$$O_2H + O_2H \longrightarrow H_2O_4$$

Evidence for the formation of these superoxides in these systems has been reviewed in section IV.

To account for water formation in the cold trap the reaction

$$H + OH \xrightarrow{\text{cold}} H_2O$$
 (Eq 15)

has invariably been the one proposed for these lowpressure systems.

The  $H-O_3(liq)$  system merits separate consideration. There is no pre-trap stage in this case since it is in the cold trap that the reactants are brought together. Furthermore, this system is apparently unique in that, at least under some conditions, the ratio of evolved oxygen to hydrogen peroxide remaining is approximately unity (117, 121, 231). Kobozev, Skorokhodov, Nekrasov, and Makarova (121) have tentatively suggested a reaction scheme in which the initial steps are

$$H + O_{\mathfrak{g}}(\text{liq}) \longrightarrow O_{\mathfrak{g}}H + O$$
$$H + O_{\mathfrak{g}}(\text{liq}) \longrightarrow OH + O_{\mathfrak{g}} \qquad (\text{Eq 16})$$

The  $O_2H$  thus formed was presumed to dimerize within the film of liquid  $O_3$  to form  $H_2O_4$  (which on warming decomposed into  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_2$ ), the O and OH escaping from the film to enter into gas phase chain reactions with  $H_2$  in the cold trap.

$$\begin{array}{rcl} OH + H_2 & \longrightarrow & H_2O + H & (Eq \ 17) \\ O + H_2 & \longrightarrow & OH + H \end{array}$$

It was assumed that most of the molecular oxygen formed by initial step (Eq 16) escaped unreacted from the trap. Formation of  $H_2O_2$  was attributed entirely to decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>, thus excluding reactions 12 and 13 whose participation would yield an evolved O<sub>2</sub> peroxide ratio of less than the unity observed. Wojtowicz, Martinez, and Zaslowsky (231) found that the evolved O<sub>2</sub>/peroxide ratio was unity only if the geometry of the O<sub>3</sub> film and the H-atom concentration were appropriate, being less than unity otherwise, and significantly that the infrared absorption bands of  $H_2O_2$  were present in products which gave a ratio less than unity and absent in those which gave a ratio of unity. They considered that reaction 16 is the only primary step, the OH formed being converted to water by either reaction 15 or reaction 17. The  $O_2$  was presumed to react with H to form O<sub>2</sub>H, which then dimerizes to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> or reacts further with H to yield  $H_2O_2$ ; those conditions which result in an evolved  $O_2$ /peroxide ratio of unity are presumably those under which the  $O_2H$  forms  $H_2O_4$  only.

#### D. WARMING STAGE

Schemes which have been invoked to account for the thermal behavior of the condensed product, *i.e.*, for the processes of the final stage, have been reviewed in section IV.

#### VI. HIGH-PRESSURE DISCHARGED SYSTEMS OF HYDROGEN AND OXYGEN

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Because the recombination reaction of oxygen atoms is much more rapid than their reaction with hydrogen and because the bond in the oxygen molecule is stronger than that in hydrogen, it is to be expected that passage of an electric discharge through a mixture of excess hydrogen and oxygen would give about the same results as passage through hydrogen alone followed by mixing with molecular oxygen. Hydrogen peroxide is produced by electrical discharge through hydrogenoxygen mixtures at low pressures ( $\sim 1$  mm) only when the effluent gases are cooled well below 190°K. Interest in the industrial potentialities of the reaction has therefore been directed to discharges at about atmospheric pressure, in which case hydrogen peroxide is apparently produced by homogeneous reactions and can be removed by cooling to room temperatures.

Here the use of nonexplosive mixtures is desirable; since excess oxygen gives low yields of hydrogen peroxide, presumably because the latter reacts rapidly with the ozone simultaneously formed, mixtures containing less than 8 to 10 mole % of O<sub>2</sub> are generally used. Both the early history of the process dating to Berthelot in 1880, and the more recent studies have been well summarized by Schumb, Satterfield, and Wentworth (198).

#### B. FACTORS INFLUENCING HYDROGEN PEROXIDE YIELD

The effect of the temperature in the reaction vessel on the yield and concentration of  $H_2O_2$  obtained by synthesis in the silent electric discharge has been studied recently (120). In the temperature range 238 to 281°K, 80%  $H_2O_2$  was obtained in constant yield, but with further increase in temperature to 335°K both the yield and the concentration decreased sharply. These experiments were carried out at an initial pressure of 500 mm with a mixture containing 96.5% hydrogen and at a rate of flow of 3.7 to 3.8 l./hr. The trapping temperature varied between 198 and 203°K.

When the rate of flow through the reactor was increased, the yield of hydrogen peroxide passed through a maximum, whereas the total consumption of oxygen in the reaction and the water yield decreased (120). The activation energy for the formation of  $H_2O_2$  in the discharge was calculated to be 1.2 kcal/mole, a low value which agrees with that for the photochemical formation of  $H_2O_2$  (225), indicating common features in the two processes.

Vol'nov and Molodkina (226) have also obtained 70-80 wt % solutions of  $H_2O_2$  by a similar method. They found that the concentration of  $H_2O_2$  was highest when (a) the well-dried gas mixture contained 3.5 to 3.7 vol % of  $O_2$ , (b) the molybdenum glass or Pyrex reactor was treated with hot concentrated HNO<sub>3</sub> and with  $H_3PO_4$  solution, (c) the time during which the gas mixture remained in the discharge zone was about 3 min when the current density at the electrodes was (2.0-2.5)  $\times 10^{-7}$  amp mm<sup>-2</sup>, and (d) the temperature of the medium surrounding the reactor was 255°K.

When the specific energy of the discharge was reduced from 5.22 to 0.2 w-hr/l. of gas passed through, the fraction of consumed oxygen converted to  $H_2O_2$ , designated as the "useful oxygen consumption," increased from 0.42 to 0.8 (179, 200, 203). It was demonstrated that specific energy is the significant parameter for comparing results of experiments carried out in different reactors (179). When the oxygen content of the initial gas mixture was reduced from 60-80 to 3-3.5%, an increase in consumption of oxygen to form  $H_2O_2$  was observed.

Argon in low concentrations acted as an energycarrier catalyst, while nitrogen at all concentrations greatly reduced the useful oxygen consumption (119). An increase in the consumption of oxygen to form  $H_2O_2$ was observed in experiments in which water vapor was used as an additive, with both electrodes heated to  $\sim 345^{\circ}$ K ( $p_{H_2O}$  100 mm). The consumption of oxygen to form  $H_2O_2$  and the useful oxygen consumption in the presence of these catalysts were somewhat lower with a glass-aluminum reactor than with an all-glass one; the use of nickel- or tin-plated electrodes caused a large reduction in both values (179, 203).

With a glass-aluminum reactor, increasing the pressure from 1 to 3 absolute atm caused a decrease in oxygen consumed and in water yield, while the peroxide yield passed through a maximum value at 2 absolute atm (200).

Morinaga (159), studying the same system at higher frequencies (500-2000 cps), observed a linear relationship, independent of frequency, between the rate of formation of hydrogen peroxide and of water, and the pulse current. The composition of the hydrogen peroxide-water solution was constant so long as the gap length in the Siemens tube remained unchanged. The peroxide concentration decreased with increasing residence time of the gas mixture, whereas the rate of conversion (%) to peroxide exhibited a saturation effect at residence times of the order of 15-20 sec. The results obtained with several types of packing in the gas space are given in Table XVI. The low values obtained with soda glass and the ceramic packings were attributed (159) to the increased rate of destruction of O<sub>2</sub>H and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> on these surfaces.

TABLE XVI THE EFFECT OF DIFFERENT PACKINGS ON PEROXIDE FORMATION (159)

Composition of the packing	Dielectric constant	Peroxide concen- tration, %	Over-all conversion, %
Blank	1	46.0	2.4
Soda glass	6	4.5	3.7
2MgO-TiO <sub>2</sub>	20	1.2	3.3
TiO <sub>2</sub>	100	1.7	3.6
BaTiO₃	1200	2.5	3.5
95BaTiO3-5SnO2	5500 $\sim$ 6000	0.7	3.2
$B_2O_8$		45.5	3.1
H <sub>2</sub> BO <sub>2</sub>		42.1	2.5

#### C. KINETICS AND MECHANISM

A kinetic analysis of the experimental data (120, 179, 203) obtained for the  $H_2$ -O<sub>2</sub> reaction in the silent discharge has been reported (201). The treatment was based on the rate of consumption of oxygen (hydrogen being present in large excess) using specific energy as the time parameter, and showed that for all-glass reactors the process could be adequately described by the consecutive irreversible first-order reactions

and

$$H_2 + O_2 \longrightarrow H_2O_2$$
$$H_2O_2 \longrightarrow H_2O + O$$

Subsequently it was shown (202) that in glassmetal reactors the process closely follows the kinetics of the parallel, consecutive, first-order irreversible mechanism represented by

$$\begin{array}{ccc} O_2 & \longrightarrow & H_2O_2 \\ & & \swarrow & \downarrow \\ & & H_2O \end{array}$$

Morinaga (159), drawing an analogy between ozone formation by discharge and the  $H_2-O_2$  reaction, suggested that the elementary processes governing the rate would be those in which electrons participate, and proposed the following mechanism.

$$H_2 + e = 2H + e \tag{A}$$

$$O_2 + e = 2O + e \tag{B}$$

$$H + O_2 = OH + O \tag{C}$$

$$O + H_2 = OH + H \tag{D}$$

$$OH + H_2 = H_2O + H \tag{E}$$

$$OH + OH = H_2O_2 \tag{F}$$

$$H_2O_2 + H = H_2O + OH \tag{G}$$

If reactions C and D are fast, an equilibrium concentration of OH would be established which concentration would govern the over-all reaction rate.

In an alternate mechanism (119) a major role was ascribed to the dissociation of hydrogen molecules, and to the electron lining on the ozonizer wall which considerably increases the adsorption potential of oxygen and thus takes the place of the cold wall otherwise necessary for the formation of hydrogen peroxide. The possibility of reaction between H atoms and ozone both in the gas phase and on the electron base was also suggested (119). On this basis the following mechanism was proposed.

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H_2 + e & \longrightarrow & H + H^{\cdot} \\ H + O_2^{-}_{ads} & S & \longrightarrow & H - O - O^{-}_{ads} & S \\ H + H - O - O^{-}_{ads} & S & \longrightarrow & H_2O_2 + e_{ads} & S \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c} O \\ H + & O & \longrightarrow & H - O - O - O - O - \\ H + & O_2^{-}_{ads} & S & \longrightarrow & H - O - O - O - a_{ds} & S \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c} H + & O & \longrightarrow & H - O - O - O - O - \\ H + & O_2^{-}_{ads} & S & \longrightarrow & H - O - O - O - a_{ds} & S \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c} H - & O & - O - O - & H - O - O - O - \\ H - & O - O - O - & H - O - O - - + O \\ H - & O - O - O - + H & 2 & \longrightarrow & H_2O_2 + O \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c} H - & O & O - O - O - H \\ H - & O - O - O - H & - & H_2O_2 + O \\ \end{array}$$

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS.—The authors are grateful to the Defense Research Board of Canada for a financial grant which enabled the preparation of this review article. The assistance of the National Science Library of Canada at the National Research Council, Ottawa, and Massey Library of this college in providing the authors with translations of numerous Russian articles and procuring many uncommon journals is gratefully acknowledged. Special thanks are due to Mr. P. Girard of the Massey Library of this college for valuable assistance during the literature survey, and to Mrs. R. Boucher of this department for typing the manuscript. The authors are indebted to Dr. S. S. Barton for helpful discussions and criticisms of the manuscript.

#### VII. References

- Abel, E., Monatsh., 86, 193 (1955); Chem. Abstr., 49, 15588 (1955).
- (2) Allen, R. L., and Stone, F. S., Nature, 180, 752 (1957).
- (3) Aoyama, S., and Sakuraba, S., J. Chem. Soc. Japan, 59, 1321 (1938); 62, 208 (1941); Chem. Abstr., 33, 1576 (1939); 35, 4699 (1941).
- (4) Astakhov, K. V., and Getsov, A. G., Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 81, 43 (1951); Chem. Abstr., 46, 1905 (1952).
- (5) Avramenko, L. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 21, 1135 (1947); Chem. Abstr., 42, 2495 (1948).
- (6) Avramenko, L. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 23, 790 (1949); Chem. Abstr., 43, 8823 (1949).
- (7) Avramenko, L. I., and Kolesnikova, R. V., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 29, 539 (1955); Chem. Abstr., 50, 16555 (1956).
- (8) Avramenko, L. I., and Kolesnikova, R. V., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 30, 581 (1956); Chem. Abstr., 50, 14325 (1956).
- (9) Avramenko, L. I., and Kolesnikova, R. V., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 30, 763 (1956); Chem. Abstr., 50, 16302 (1956).
- (10) Avramenko, L. I., and Kolesnikova, R. V., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 32, 2780 (1958); Chem. Abstr., 53, 13744 (1959).
- (11) Avramenko, L. I., and Kolesnikova, R. V., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 33, 2548 (1959); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 33, 515 (1959); Chem. Abstr., 54, 21965 (1960).
- (12) Avramenko, L. I., and Kolesnikova, R. V., Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 140, 1100 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 57, 1567 (1962).
- (13) Avramenko, L. I., and Kolesnikova, R. V., Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Otd. Khim. Nauk, 1971 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 58, 2872 (1963).
- (14) Avramenko, L. I., and Kolesnikova, R. V., Advan. Photochem., 2, 25 (1964).
- (15) Avramenko, L. I., and Lorentso, R. V., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 24, 207 (1950); Chem. Abstr., 44, 6245 (1950).
- (16) Badin, E. J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 3651 (1948).
- (17) Badin, E. J., "Third Symposium on Combustion," Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, Md., 1949, p 382.
- (18) Bain, O., and Giguere, P. A., Can. J. Chem., 33, 527 (1955).
- (19) Bakh, A. N., Zh. Russ. Fiz.-Khim. Obshch., 29, 373 (1897).
- (20) Bass, A. M., and Broida, H. P., "Formation and Trapping of Free Radicals," Academic Press Inc., New York, N. Y., 1960.
- (21) Batzold, J. S., Luner, C., and Winkler, C. A., Can. J. Chem., 31, 262 (1953).
- (22) Bawn, C. E. H., and Hogg, M. A. P., Discussions Faraday Soc., 14, 141 (1953).
- (23) Bennet, J. E., Ingram, D. J. E., Simons, M. C. K., George, P., and Griffith, J. S., *Phil. Mag.*, 46, 443 (1955).
- (24) Benson, S. W., J. Chem. Phys., 33, 306 (1960).
- (25) Benson, S. W., and Buss, J. H., J. Chem. Phys., 29, 546 (1958).
- (26) Bolz, L. H., Mauer, F. A., and Peiser, H. S., unpublished data; cf. ref 20.
- (27) Bonhoeffer, K. F., and Boehm, E., Z. Physik. Chem., 119, 385 (1926); Chem. Abstr., 20, 3645 (1926).
- (28) Broida, H. P., Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 67, 530 (1957).
- (29) Broida, H. P., and Kone, W. R., Phys. Rev., 89, 1053 (1953).

- (30) Campbell, R. W., and Rodebush, W. H., J. Chem. Phys., 4, 293 (1936).
- (31) Cashion, J. K., and Polanyi, J. C., J. Chem. Phys., 30, 316 (1959).
- (32) Chamova, V. N., Vol'nov, I. I., Tsentsiper, A. B., and Kolotova, E. I., Khim. Perekisnykh Soedin., Akad. Nauk SSSR, Inst. Obshch i Neorgan. Khim., 38 (1963).
- (33) Charters, P. E., and Polanyi, J. C., Can. J. Chem., 38, 1742 (1960).
- (34) Chin, D., and Giguere, P. A., J. Chem. Phys., 34, 690 (1961).
- (35) Clement, M. J. Y., and Ramsay, D. A., Can. J. Phys., 39, 205 (1961).
- (36) Clyne, M. A. A., and Thrush, B. A., Nature, 189, 135 (1961).
- (37) Clyne, M. A. A., and Thrush, B. A., Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), A275, 544 (1963).
- (38) Clyne, M. A. A., and Thrush, B. A., Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), A275, 559 (1963).
- (39) Clyne, M. A. A., Thrush, B. A., and Wayne, R. P., Nature, 199, 1057 (1963).
- (40) Cottin, M., J. Chim. Phys., 56, 1024 (1959); Chem. Abstr., 54, 10497 (1960).
- (41) Csejka, D. A., Martinez, F., Wojtowicz, J. A., and Zaslowsky, J. A., J. Phys. Chem., 68, 3878 (1964).
- (42) Czapski, G., and Bielski, B. H. J., J. Phys. Chem., 67, 2180 (1963).
- (43) Dalby, F. W., Can. J. Phys., 36, 1336 (1958).
- (44) Davis, T. W., Gordon, S., and Hart, E. J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 80, 4487 (1958).
- (45) De Souza, B. C., and Green, J. H., Nature, 203, 1165 (1964).
- (46) Dixon, R. N., and Mason, B. F., Nature, 197, 1198 (1963).
- (47) Dong, P., and Cottin, M., J. Chim. Phys., 57, 557 (1960);
  58, 803 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 55, 2268 (1961); 56, 6775 (1962).
- (48) Egorov, V. P., Lebedev, V. P., and Kobozev, N. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 37, 922 (1963); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 37, 488 (1963); Chem. Abstr., 59, 6023 (1963).
- (49) Ehrenstein, G., Townes, C. H., and Stevenson, M. J., *Phys. Rev. Letters*, **3**, 40 (1959).
- (50) Engelhard, H., and Breuer, G., Naturwiss., 46, 554 (1959);
   Chem. Abstr., 54, 7269 (1960).
- (51) Foner, S. N., and Hudson, R. L., J. Chem. Phys., 21, 1374 (1953).
- (52) Foner, S. N., and Hudson, R. L., J. Chem. Phys., 21, 1608 (1953).
- (53) Foner, S. N., and Hudson, R. L., J. Chem. Phys., 23, 1364 (1955).
- (54) Foner, S. N., and Hudson, R. L., J. Chem. Phys., 23, 1974 (1955).
- (55) Foner, S. N., and Hudson, R. L., J. Chem. Phys., 25, 602 (1956).
- (56) Foner, S. N., and Hudson, R. L., "Symposium on Free Radicals, Laval University, Quebec, Sept 10, 1956," unpublished.
- (57) Foner, S. N., and Hudson, R. L., J. Chem. Phys., 36, 2676 (1962).
- (58) Foner, S. N., and Hudson, R. L., J. Chem. Phys., 36, 2681 (1962).
- (59) Franklin, J. L., and Broida, H. P., Ann. Rev. Phys. Chem., 10, 145 (1959).
- (60) Friel, P. J., U. S. Patent 2,842,490 (July 8, 1958); Chem.
   Abstr., 53, 12895 (1959).
- (61) Friel, P. J., and Krieger, K. A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 80, 4210 (1958).

- (62) Frost, A. A., and Oldenberg, O., J. Chem. Phys., 4, 642, 781 (1936).
- (63) Garvin, D., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81, 3173 (1959).
- (64) Garvin, D., and McKinley, J. D., Jr., J. Chem. Phys., 24, 1256 (1956).
- (65) Garvin, D., Broida, H. P., and Kostkowski, H. J., J. Chem. Phys., 32, 880 (1960).
- (66) Geib, K. H., J. Chem. Phys., 4, 391 (1936).
- (67) Geib, K. H., Ergeb. Exakt. Naturw., 15, 44 (1936); Chem. Abstr., 31, 2056 (1937).
- (68) Geib, K. H., and Harteck, P., Ber., B65, 1551 (1932);
   Chem. Abstr., 26, 5866 (1932).
- (69) Geib, K. H., and Harteck, P., Z. Physik. Chem., A170, 1 (1934); Chem. Abstr., 28, 7121 (1934).
- (70) Ghormley, J. A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 79, 1862 (1957).
- (71) Ghormley, J. A., J. Chem. Phys., 39, 3539 (1963).
- (72) Giguere, P. A., J. Chem. Phys., 18, 88 (1950).
- (73) Giguere, P. A., J. Chem. Phys., 22, 2085 (1954).
- (74) Giguere, P. A., Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 60, 545 (1957).
- (75) Giguere, P. A., ICSU (Intern. Council Sci. Unions) Rev.,
   4, 172 (1962).
- (76) Giguere, P. A., and Chin, D., J. Chem. Phys., 31, 1685 (1959).
- (77) Giguere, P. A., and Harvey, K. B., J. Chem. Phys., 25, 373 (1956).
- (78) Giguere, P. A., and Harvey, K. B., Can. J. Chem., 34, 798 (1956).
- (79) Giguere, P. A., and Harvey, K. B., "Symposium on Free Radicals, Laval University, Quebec, Sept 10, 1956," unpublished.
- (80) Giguere, P. A., and Harvey, K. B., J. Mol. Spectry., 3, 36 (1959).
- (81) Giguere, P. A., and Secco, E. A., J. Phys. Radium, 15, 508 (1954).
- (82) Giguere, P. A., Morisette, B. G., and Olmos, A. W., Can. J. Chem., 33, 657 (1955).
- (83) Giguere, P. A., Secco, E. A., and Eaton, R. S., Discussions Faraday Soc., 14, 104 (1953).
- (84) Giguere, P. A., Morisette, B. G., Olmos, A. W., and Knop, O., Can. J. Chem., 33, 804 (1955).
- (85) Gingrich, N. S., Rev. Mod. Phys., 15, 90 (1954).
- (86) Gladney, H. M., and Garvin, D., J. Phys. Chem., 66, 1560 (1962).
- (87) Gorbanev, A. I., Kaitmazov, S. D., Prokhorov, A. M., and Tsentsiper, A. B., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 31, 515 (1957); Chem. Abstr., 51, 17430 (1957).
- (88) Gorbanev, A. I., Tsentsiper, A. B., Zhiteneva, I. M., and Danilova, M. S., *Izv. Sibirsk. Otd.*, *Akad. Nauk SSSR*, 5, 43 (1958); *Chem. Abstr.*, 53, 4869 (1959).
- (89) Gray, P., Trans. Faraday Soc., 55, 408 (1959).
- (90) Haas, C., and Hornig, D. F., J. Chem. Phys., 32, 1763 (1960).
- (91) Harteck, P., and Kopsch, U., Z. Physik. Chem., B12, 327 (1931); Chem. Abstr., 25, 3918 (1931).
- (92) Harvey, K. B., and Brown, H. W., J. Chim. Phys., 56, 745 (1959); Chem. Abstr., 54, 6304 (1960).
- (93) Henshaw, D. S., Phys. Rev., 119, 22 (1960).
- (94) Henshaw, D. S., Hurst, D. G., and Pope, N. K., Phys. Rev., 92, 1229 (1953).
- (95) Hogg, M. A. P., and Spice, J. E., J. Chem. Soc., 3971 (1957).
- (96) Howgate, D. W., J. Chem. Phys., 36, 239 (1962).
- (97) Ingold, K. U., and Bryce, W. A., J. Chem. Phys., 24, 360 (1956).
- (98) Ingram, D. J. E., Hodgson, W. G., Parker, C. A., and Rees, W. T., *Nature*, 176, 1227 (1955).

- (99) Jen, C. K., Preprints Papers Intern. Symp. Free Radicals, 5th, Uppsala, A3-1 (1961).
- (100) Jen, C. K., Foner, S. N., Cochran, E. L., and Bowers, V. A., Phys. Rev., 104, 846 (1956).
- (101) Jen, C. K., Foner, S. N., Cochran, E. L., and Bowers, V. A., Phys. Rev., 112, 1169 (1958).
- (102) Jones, R. A., and McKenney, D. J., to be published.
- (103) Jones, R. A., and Winkler, C. A., Can. J. Chem., 29, 1010 (1951).
- (104) Kaitmazov, S. D., and Prokhorov, A. M., Zh. Eksperim.
   *i Teor. Fiz.*, 36, 1331 (1959); Soviet Phys. JETP, 9, 944 (1959); Chem. Abstr., 53, 12836 (1959).
- (105) Kaitmazov, S. D., and Prokhorov, A. M., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 34, 227 (1960); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 34, 108 (1960); Chem. Abstr., 55, 13066 (1961).
- (106) Kaitmazov, S. D., and Prokhorov, A. M., Paramagnitn. Rezonans, Kazansk Univ., Sbornik, 37 (1960); Chem. Abstr., 56, 8192 (1962).
- (107) Kaitmazov, S. D., and Prokhorov, A. M., Fiz. Tverd. Tela,
   5, 347 (1963); Soviet Phys.-Solid State, 5, 251 (1963).
- (108) Kaitmazov, S. D., Prokhorov, A. M., and Tsentsiper, A. B., "Proceedings of the 1st All-Union Conference on Radiation Chemistry, Moscow, 1957," Part I, p 21; *Chem. Abstr.*, 53, 19574 (1959).
- (109) Kaufman, F., Progr. Reaction Kinetics, 1, 1 (1961).
- (110) Kaufman, F., Ann. Geophys., 20, 106 (1964).
- (111) Kaufman, F., and Del Greco, F. P., J. Chem. Phys., 35, 1895 (1961).
- (112) Kaufman, F., and Del Greco, F. P., Symp. Combust., 9th, Ithaca, N. Y., 1962, 659 (1963).
- (113) Kazarnovskii, I. A., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 1, 93 (1930); Chem. Abstr., 28, 1233 (1934).
- (114) Kerwin, L., and Cottin, M., Can. J. Phys., 36, 184 (1958).
- (115) Kirshenbaum, A. D., Aston, J. G., and Grosse, A. V., Final report on Contract DA-36-034-ORD-2250, Army Ballistic Missile Agency, "Research Study on the Oxygen Fluorides," Nov 18, 1958; J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81, 1277, 6398 (1959).
- (116) Klein, R., and Scheer, M. D., J. Chem. Phys., 31, 278 (1959).
- (117) Kobozev, N. I., Nekrasov, L. I., and Eremin, E. N., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 30, 2580 (1956); Chem. Abstr., 51, 11141 (1957).
- (118) Kobozev, N. I., Nekrasov, L. I., and Skorokhodov, I. I., Khim. Perekisnykh Soedin, Akad. Nauk SSSR, Inst. Obshch. i Neorgan. Khim., 41 (1963).
- (119) Kobozev, N. I., Semiokhin, I. A., and Pitskhelauri, E. N., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 36, 443 (1962); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 36, 233 (1962); Chem. Abstr., 57, 9255 (1962).
- (120) Kobozev, N. I., Semiokhin, I. A., and Sindyukov, V. G., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 34, 773 (1960); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 34, 367 (1960); Chem. Abstr., 57, 4462 (1962).
- (121) Kobozev, N. I., Skorokhodov, I. I., Nekrasov, L. I., and Makarova, E. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 31, 1843 (1957); Chem. Abstr., 52, 6039 (1958).
- (122) Kondrat'ev, V. N., Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 137, 120 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 56, 6694 (1962).
- (123) Konkin, A. A., Shigorin, D. N., and Novikova, L. N., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 32, 894 (1958); Chem. Abstr., 52, 19457 (1958).
- (124) Kroh, J., Green, B. C., and Spinks, J. W. T., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 83, 2201 (1961).
- (125) Kruglyakov, K. E., and Emanuel, N. M., Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 83, 593 (1952); Chem. Abstr., 46, 6909 (1952).

- (126) Larkin, F. S., and Thrush, B. A., Discussions Faraday Soc., 37, 112 (1964).
- (127) Lavrovskaya, G. K., Skurat, V. E., Tal'roze, V. L., and Tantsyrev, G. D., Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 117, 641 (1957); Chem. Abstr., 52, 12568 (1958).
- (128) Lewis, B., and von Elbe, G., "Combustion, Flames and Explosions of Gases," 2nd ed, Academic Press Inc., New York, N. Y., 1961, Chapter 2.
- (129) Lind, S. C., "Radiation Chemistry of Gases," Reinhold Publishing Corp., New York, N. Y., 1961.
- (130) Lindeman, L. P., and Guffy, J. C., J. Chem. Phys., 29, 247 (1958).
- (131) Livingston, R., Ghormley, J., and Zeldes, H., J. Chem. Phys., 24, 483 (1956).
- (132) Lossing, F. P., Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 67, 499 (1957).
- (133) Mal'tsev, Yu. A., Skorokhodov, I. I., and Nekrasov, L. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 37, 2740 (1963); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 37, 1480 (1963).
- (134) Marshall, J. G., and Rutledge, P. V., *Nature*, **184**, 2013 (1959).
- (135) Martinez, F., and Wojtowicz, J. A., U. S. Dept. Comm., Office Tech. Serv., AD 256,787 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 58, 5441 (1963).
- (136) Martinez, F., Wojtowicz, J. A., and Smith, H. D., NASA (National Aeronautics and Space Administration), Document N 62-11037, 1961.
- (137) Martinez, F., Wojtowicz, J. A., and Zaslowsky, J. A., Preprints Papers Intern. Symp. Free Radicals, 5th, Uppsala, 42-1 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 59, 9341 (1963).
- (138) Martinez, F., Wojtowicz, J. A., and Zasłowsky, J. A., J. Phys. Chem., 67, 714 (1963).
- (139) Marx, R., Leach, S., and Horani, M., J. Chim. Phys., 60, 726 (1963); Chem. Abstr., 59, 5886 (1963).
- (140) Matheson, M. S., and Smaller, B., J. Chem. Phys., 23, 521 (1955).
- (141) Mauer, F. A., Rev. Sci. Instr., 25, 598 (1954).
- (142) McCormic, G., and Gordy, W., Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 1, 200 (1956).
- (143) McGee, H. A., Jr., Preprints Papers Intern. Symp. Free Radicals, 5th, Uppsala, A2-1 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 59, 1211 (1963).
- (144) McGee, H. A., Jr., Advan. Cryog. Eng., 9, 1 (1964).
- (145) McKinley, J. D., Jr., J. Chem. Phys., 22, 1258 (1954).
- (146) McKinley, J. D., Jr., and Garvin, D., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77, 5802 (1955).
- (147) McKinley, J. D., Jr., Garvin, D., and Boudart, M. J., J. Chem. Phys., 23, 784 (1955).
- (148) Mendeleev, D. I., "Osnovy Khimii" (Principles of Chemistry), 6th ed, 1895.
- (149) Miller, R. L., and Hornig, D. F., J. Chem. Phys., 34, 265 (1961).
- (150) Milligan, D. E., and Jacox, M. E., J. Chem. Phys., 38, 2627 (1963); 40, 605 (1964).
- (151) Minc, S., and Szymanski, A., Roczniki Chem., 37, 1525 (1963).
- (152) Minkoff, G. J., Discussions Faraday Soc., 14, 141 (1953).
- (153) Minkoff, G. J., "Frozen Free Radicals," Interscience Publishers, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1960.
- (154) Minkoff, G. J., and Tipper, C. F. H., "Chemistry of Combustion Reactions," Butterworths, London, 1962.
- (155) Mironov, K. E., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 28, 2253 (1954); Chem. Abstr., 51, 4859 (1957).
- (156) Mironov, K. E., and Danilova, M. S., Zh. Neorg. Khim., 3 2807 (1958); Chem. Abstr., 54, 25619 (1960).
- (157) Miyazaki, S., and Takahashi, S., Nippon Kagaku Zasshi,
   78, 219, 573 (1957); Chem. Abstr., 51, 15281 (1957);
   58, 2566 (1958).

- (158) Molin, Yu. N., and Tsvetkov, Yu. D., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 33, 1668 (1959); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 33, 102 (1959); Chem. Abstr., 55, 3197 (1961).
- (159) Morinaga, K., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 35, 345, 625, 627
   (1962); Chem. Abstr., 57, 1845, 9441 (1962).
- (160) Muschlitz, E. E., Jr., and Bailey, T. L., J. Phys. Chem., 60, 681 (1956).
- (161) Nekrasov, L. I., Thesis, Moscow State University, 1951.
- (162) Nekrasov, L. I., and Skorokhodov, I. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 30, 1189 (1956); Chem. Abstr., 51, 11901 (1957).
- (163) Nekrasov, L. I., Kobozev, N. I., and Eremin, E. N., Vestn. Mosk. Univ., Ser. II, Khim., 15 (4), 12 (1960); Chem. Abstr., 55, 10820 (1961).
- (164) Nekrasov, L. I., Kobozev, N. I., and Eremin, E. N., Vestn. Mosk. Univ., Ser. II, Khim., 17 (3), 24 (1962); Chem. Abstr., 57, 10559 (1962).
- (165) Nekrasov, L. I., Kobozev, N. I., and Eremin, E. N., Vestn. Mosk. Univ., Ser. II, Khim., 18 (2), 7 (1963); Chem. Abstr., 59, 10794 (1963).
- (166) Nekrasov, L. I., Skorokhodov, I. I., and Kobozev, N. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 35, 691 (1961); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 35, 337 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 55, 16247 (1961).
- (167) Nesterov, O. V., and Evdokimov, V. B., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 35, 376 (1961); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 35, 180 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 55, 11038 (1961).
- (168) Ockman, N., Advan. Phys., 7, 199 (1958).
- (169) Ogilvie, J. F., Nature, 204, 572 (1964).
- (170) Ohara, E., J. Chem. Soc. Japan, 60, 1171 (1939); Chem. Abstr., 34, 1569 (1940).
- (171) Ohara, E., J. Chem. Soc. Japan, 61, 569 (1940); Chem. Abstr., 34, 6531 (1940).
- (172) Ohara, E., J. Chem. Soc. Japan, 61, 657 (1940); Chem. Abstr., 34, 7761 (1940).
- (173) Oldenberg, O., J. Chem. Phys., 3, 266 (1935).
- (174) Oldenberg, O., J. Chem. Phys., 17, 1059 (1949).
- (175) Oldenberg, O., and Rieke, F. F., J. Chem. Phys., 6, 439 (1938); 7, 485 (1939).
- (176) Pauling, L., "Nature of the Chemical Bond," 2nd ed, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, N. Y., 1940.
- (177) Pavliuchenko, M. M., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 14, 877 (1950).
- (178) Peyron, M., "Proceedings of the International Symposium on Molecular Structure and Spectroscopy, Tokyo, Sept 10-14, 1962," Science Council of Japan, Tokyo, p B 403.
- (179) Pitskhelauri, E. N., Semiokhin, I. A., and Kobozev, N. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 35, 2383 (1961); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 35, 1176 (1961).
- (180) Purmal, A. N., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 29, 744, 846 (1955); Chem. Abstr., 51, 119, 4859 (1957).
- (181) Radford, H. E., Phys. Rev., 122, 144 (1961).
- (182) Ravich, G. B., Tsurinov, G. G., and Vol'nova, V. A., Zavodsk. Lab., 19, 802 (1953).
- (183) Redington, R. L., Olsona, W. B., and Cross, P. C., J. Chem. Phys., 36, 1311 (1962).
- (184) Rexroad, H. N., and Gordy, W., Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 1, 200 (1956).
- (185) Renznitskii, L. A., Khomyakov, K. G., Nekrasov, L. I., and Skorokhodov, I. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 32, 87 (1958); Chem. Abstr., 52, 12540 (1958).
- (186) Robertson, A. J. B., Trans. Faraday Soc., 48, 228 (1952).
- (187) Robertson, A. J. B., Chem. Ind. (London), 1485 (1954).
- (188) Robertson, A. J. B., in "Applied Mass Spectrometry," Institute of Petroleum, London, 1954, p 112.
- (189) Robinson, G. W., and McCarty, M., Jr., informal discussion on "Free Radical Stabilization," Sheffield, Sept 1958, unpublished.

- (190) Rodebush, W. H., and Wahl, M. H., J. Chem. Phys., 1, 696 (1933).
- (191) Rodebush, W. H., Wende, C. W. J., and Campbell, R. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 59, 1924 (1937).
- (192) Rodebush, W. H., Keizer, C. R., McKee, F. S., and Quagliano, J. V., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 69, 538 (1947).
- (193) Ruehrwein, R. A., Hashman, J. S., and Edwards, J. W., J. Phys. Chem., 64, 1317 (1960).
- (194) Sanders, T. M., Jr., Schwalow, A. L., Dousmanis, G. C., and Townes, C. H., Phys. Rev., 89, 1158 (1953); 100, 1735 (1955).
- (195) Sanders, T. M., Jr., Schwalow, A. L., Dousmanis, G. C., and Townes, C. H., J. Chem. Phys., 22, 245 (1954).
- (196) Sands, R. H., Phys. Rev., 99, 1222 (1955).
- (197) Schiff, H. I., Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 67, 518 (1957).
- (198) Schumb, W. C., Satterfield, C. N., and Wentworth, R. L., "Hydrogen Peroxide," Reinhold Publishing Corp., New York, N. Y., 1955, Chapter 2.
- (199) Secco, E. A., J. Chem. Phys., 23, 1734 (1955).
- (200) Semiokhin, I. A., Kobozev, N. I., and Pitskhelauri, E. N., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 35, 2780 (1961); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 35, 1375 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 56, 15029 (1962).
- (201) Semiokhin, I. A., Kobozev, N. I., and Pitskhelauri, E. N., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 36, 72 (1962); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 36, 37 (1962); Chem. Abstr., 58, 13453 (1963).
- (202) Semiokhin, I. A., Kobozev, N. I., and Pitskhelauri, E. N., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 36, 336 (1962); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 36, 169 (1962); Chem. Abstr., 57, 1594 (1962).
- (203) Semiokhin, I. A., Pitskhelauri, E. N., Kobozev, N. I., and Sindyukov, V. G., *Zh. Fiz. Khim.*, **35**, 2633 (1961); *Russ. J. Phys. Chem.*, **35**, 1301 (1961); *Chem. Abstr.*, **58**, 13453 (1963).
- (204) Shaw, T. M., J. Chem. Phys., 31, 1142 (1959).
- (205) Siegel, S., Baum, L. H., Skolnik, S., and Fluornoy, J. M., J. Chem. Phys., 32, 1249 (1960).
- (206) Skorokhodov, I. I., Nekrasov, L. I., and Kobozev, N. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 35, 2025 (1961); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 994 (1961).
- (207) Skorokhodov, I. I., Nekrasov, K. I., and Kobozev, N. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 38, 2198 (1964); Chem. Abstr., 62, 60 (1965).
- (208) Skorokhodov, I. I., Nekrasov, L. I., Kobozev, N. I., and Evdokimov, V. B., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 36, 274 (1962); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 36, 136 (1962); Chem. Abstr., 57, 1723 (1962).
- (209) Skorokhodov, I. I., Nekrasov, L. I., Kobozev, N. I., and Makarova, E. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 35, 905 (1961); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 35, 443 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 58, 2876 (1963).
- (210) Skorokhodov, I. I., Golubev, V. B., Nekrasov, L. I., Evdokimov, V. B., and Kobozev, N. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 36, 93 (1962); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 36, 47 (1962); Chem. Abstr., 58, 8536 (1963).
- (211) Skorokhodov, I. I., Nekrasov, L. I., Reznitskii, L. A., Khomyakov, K. G., and Kobozev, N. I., *Zh. Fiz. Khim.*, **33**, 2090 (1959); *Russ. J. Phys. Chem.*, **33**, 300 (1959); *Chem. Abstr.*, **54**, 13844 (1960).
- (212) Smith, P., Chem. Ind. (London), 1299 (1954).
- (213) Smith, R. C., and Wyard, S. J., Nature, 186, 226 (1960).
- (214) Smith, W. V., J. Chem. Phys., 11, 110 (1943).
- (215) Spinks, J. W. T., and Woods, R. J., "An Introduction to Radiation Chemistry," John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1964.
- (216) Stadnik, P. M., Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 87, 445 (1952); Chem. Abstr., 47, 3092 (1953).
- (217) Szymanski, A., and Minc, S., Roczniki Chem., 37, 1533 (1963).

- (218) Tagirov, R. B., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 30, 949 (1956); Chem. Abstr., 50, 16387 (1956).
- (219) Takahashi, S., Nippon Kagaku Zasshi, 81, 33, 36 (1960); Chem. Abstr., 55, 5194 (1961).
- (220) Taylor, H. S., and Lavin, G. I., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 52, 1910 (1930).
- (221) Tsentsiper, A. B., Danilova, M. A., Kanisheva, A. S., and Gorbanev, A. I., Zh. Neorg. Khim., 4, 1952 (1959); Russ. J. Inorg. Chem., 4, 886 (1959); Chem. Abstr., 54, 11788 (1960).
- (222) Tsuchiya, T., J. Chem. Phys., 22, 1784 (1954).
- (223) Tsvetkov, Yu. D., Bubnov, N. N., Mokul'skii, M. A., Lazurkhin, Yu. S., and Voevodskii, V. V., Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 122, 1053 (1958); Chem. Abstr., 54, 23786 (1960).
- (224) Volman, D. H., J. Chem. Phys., 15, 711 (1947).
- (225) Volman, D. H., Advan. Photochem., 1, 43 (1963).
- (226) Vol'nov, I. I., and Molodkina, A. M., Zh. Neorg. Khim., 6, 1952 (1961); Russ. J. Inorg. Chem., 6, 997 (1961); Chem. Abstr., 56, 3099 (1962).

- (227) Vol'nov, I. I., Tsentsiper, A. B., Chamova, V. N., Laty-sheva, E. I., and Kuznetsova, Z. I., *Zh. Fiz. Khim.*, 38, 1182 (1964); *Russ. J. Phys. Chem.*, 38, 645 (1964).
- (228) Walsh, A. D., J. Chem. Soc., 331, 398 (1948).
- (229) Willey, E. J. B., Trans. Faraday Soc., 30, 230 (1934).
- (230) Wise, H., Ablow, C. M., and Sancier, K. M., J. Chem. Phys., 41, 3569 (1964).
- (231) Wojtowicz, J. A., Martinez, F., and Zaslowsky, J. A., J. Phys. Chem., 67, 849 (1963).
- (232) Wong, E. L., and Potter, A. E., Jr., J. Chem. Phys., 39, 1221 (1963).
- (233) Wyard, S. J., Proc. Colloq. Ampere, 11, 388 (1962); Chem. Abstr., 59, 14794 (1963).
- (234) Wyard, S. J., and Smith, R. C., Arch. Sci. (Geneva), 13, 224 (1960); Chem. Abstr., 56, 15066 (1962).
- (235) Yagodovskaya, T. V., and Nekrasov, L. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim., 37, 2347 (1963); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 37, 1269 (1963).
- (236) Yagodovskaya, T. V., and Nekrasov, L. I., Zh. Fiz. Khim.,
   38, 1750 (1964); Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 38, 953 (1964).